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Dear Mrs Stewart


I expect that by now you are acquainted with the sad news of Jack’s death in action. I know I shall be opening an old wound but felt that I could not let it pass without letting you know of the appreciation of his comrades. I was his intimate pal … He had the respect of both officers and all the boys in our Coy. We went out together in the fight on April 11th and Jack won everyone’s praise in jumping at a machine gun that was troubling us. He probably saved our lives and an officer’s, who was himself killed afterwards and would have recommended him for bravery. Jack got the machine gun but unfortunately fell. He suffered no pain but his thoughts were of home.


I will not say any more but all that gets out of the fight in our company will remember him as a man who died as good as he lived, helping his pals. I am sorry it was impossible to get his belongings owing to a counter-attack by the Germans.


May God comfort you in your troubles and if in his mercy God sees fit for me to return I will visit you as I would like to see the people of a dear pal.


Letter from Private Bertram Harry Perry to the mother of Private Jack Stewart.





The author and the Jean and Denise Letaille Bullecourt Museum are always looking to gather further information about the battles of Bullecourt. If you are related to any of the participants of these battles and have photographs, personal testimonies, letters, diaries or any relevant information, please contact Paul Kendall at paul.kendall193@btinternet.com.


This book is dedicated to Jean and Denise Letaille and the villagers of Bullecourt who have ensured that the soldiers from Australia and Britain who perished in the fight for Bullecourt are never forgotten, and to the memory of my great grandfather, Private William Kendall 44291 22nd Manchester Regiment, who was killed at Bullecourt on 13th May 1917.




Such was the first battle of Bullecourt – a glorious failure; glorious because the Australians were asked to do the apparently impossible and they did it. They penetrated the great Hindenburg line, and held it for hours. It was an ill conceived venture, and the lives of good Australians were sacrificed.


Lieutenant Colonel Raymond Leane, Commanding Officer 48th Battalion AIF.
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Front of jacket: Above, 2nd Lieutenant Harold Clarkson’s Tank 586; below, the death of Major Black. (Australian War Memorial: ART03558), see page 147.


RFC photograph of the ruins of Bullecourt, 24th April 1917.
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2nd Lieutenant Cuthbert Birkett MC, Tank Officer D Battalion, Machine Gun Corps Heavy Branch.


‘You need not worry in the slightest about me. I am going on top-hole, the broken foot is very comfy, the amputated one is getting on A1. I get a little pain at the dressings, every other day of the shrapnel wounds, but the doctors and nurses are the last word in kindness and thoughtfulness. The living here is tres bon. I’ve lived on chicken breasts and champagne etc.’


Letter from No.2 Red Cross Hospital, Rouen, to his father, 21st April 1917







INTRODUCTION


It was doubtful that the allied and German nations could continue to wage war effectively through 1917. Both sides had suffered terribly during 1916. The British and Australians had lost heavily on the Somme, the French Army fought with dogged determination to defend Verdun. The German Army was exhausted as a consequence of these offensives; 1917 would become a year of endurance for all nations. General Robert Nivelle had been appointed as French Commander-in-Chief as a replacement for General Joffre. Nivelle had plans to unleash an initiative in the Chemin-des-Dames during April 1917 with the purpose of breaking through the lines and defeating the German army. In order to assist Nivelle’s offensive Haig was asked to launch a British offensive on the Arras front simultaneously, to tie down German reserves in the region and distract attention from Nivelle’s campaign in Champagne. General Sir Henry Horne’s First Army was ordered to capture Vimy Ridge, which would provide a defensive flank for Third Army commanded by General Sir Edmund Allenby to launch an offensive that would drive east from Arras towards Cambrai. Cambrai was an important communications hub for the occupying German Army. The Fifth Army commanded by General Sir Hubert de la Poer Gough launched a major offensive upon the Hindenburg Line at Bullecourt assisting Allenby’s right flank. Bullecourt would consume the lives of approximately 10,000 Australian soldiers and 7,000 British soldiers. The divisions that fought a ferocious battle to capture the village were the British 7th, 58th and 62nd Divisions; together with the Australian 1st, 2nd, 4th and 5th Divisions. They encountered strong resistance from the German 27th Württemberg Division and 3rd Guard Division.


Expectations of a complete victory were high. Germany was fighting a war on the Western and Eastern Fronts. With the escalation of the submarine war upon merchant shipping and the prospect of antagonising American opinion through this strategy against merchant fleets, Germany was fearful of the US entering the war and sending millions of American troops to bolster the depleted ranks of the Allied armies; the weary German Army risked being outnumbered and their lines overwhelmed. The Somme campaign during 1916 had left a bulge in the German line, so in anticipation of an Allied attack on this salient in early 1917, the German Army withdrew to positions where they could prepare for the expected onslaught. General Ludendorff chose to withdraw his forces to a new defensive line he called the Siegfried Line. The British would refer to this new line of defence as the Hindenburg Line, and Ludendorff’s strategy of withdrawal would release 10 German Infantry Divisions which would be used to secure their position on the Western Front. The village of Bullecourt was incorporated within the formidable fortifications of this defensive position, containing a network of trenches, concrete machine gun emplacements and dense fields of barbed wire entanglements of various heights.


During April–May 1917 the village of Bullecourt saw heavy fighting as General Sir Hubert Gough’s Fifth Army attacked this sector of the Hindenburg Line in support of General Horne’s First Army offensive at Vimy Ridge and General Allenby’s Third Army thrust east from Arras towards Cambrai. The British assault in this sector of the Western Front was to assist General Nivelle’s attack in the south near to Rheims and Soissons, by forcing the diversion of German reserves from the south to the north. Gough suggested the offensive at Bullecourt, but he was only able to launch an attack on a narrow front because he did not have the resources for a large-scale attack. Bullecourt was chosen as the point of this subsidiary attack because it was close to the German second line of defence, called the Drocourt–Quéant Switch, which ran north from the Hindenburg Line. If the British broke through at Arras, then the Germans would withdraw to this secondary defensive line. If Gough could simultaneously capture the junction of the Hindenburg Line and the Drocourt–Quéant Switch close to Bullecourt, then the German Army would be left in a very insecure situation. Switch lines were like swinging gates, where any Allied assault could find itself confined in a deadly salient, within each intersection of trenches they could be confronted by heavily fortified villages and woods. If Gough could capture Bullecourt the Fifth Army could sweep up the Drocourt–Quéant line and meet Horne and Allenby’s First and Third Armies in the north.


The Battle at Bullecourt was fought in three stages, commencing with the first attack on 11th April involving 4th Australian Division (I Anzac Corps) and 62nd Division, both commanded by General Gough, Fifth Army. These Divisions were present with the 2nd Australian Division during the German counter attack at Lagnicourt on 15th April. The Second battle of Bullecourt was fought 3rd–17th May. V Corps comprising the 7th, 58th and 62nd Divisions and I Anzac Corps, including the 1st, 2nd and 5th Australian Divisions, participated in this action. The battle for Bullecourt was one of attrition fought with violent savagery on both sides. After several weeks of terrible fighting, the village was eventually captured; but this was a flawed victory, achieved with the loss of thousands of British and Australian soldiers. The Australian 4th Division had lost 3,289 at the first Bullecourt battle on 11th April, including 1,170 prisoners of the war. This was the highest number of Australian prisoners captured in one place during the war. The second Bullecourt battle fought during May would consume approximately 7,000 Australian and 7,000 British casualties. The overall loss of approximately 17,000 soldiers to capture a village and nearby trenches is appalling. Was the slaughter of so many husbands, fathers and sons from Britain and Australia to capture this objective worth the sacrifice?


The action is associated with much controversy. The first Bullecourt battle came to be regarded as the worst Australian defeat of the Great War when Australian infantry assaulted the Hindenburg Line without artillery and tank support. They were badly let down by the unreliable tanks, but the British tank crews were let down in their turn by their own commanders, who put them in the forefront of the attack in Mark II training tanks, which were prone to malfunction and not armour plated.


The Australian Divisions included many experienced troops who had fought in previous battles during the first years of the war. They had fought Turkish forces on the Gallipoli peninsula during 1915 and fought on the Somme in 1916. The British 7th Division had also gained much experience from the beginning of the war. The experienced soldiers from these divisions would be able to use their initiative when things went wrong on the battlefield at Bullecourt. When they had sustained heavy casualties, losing officers and NCOs, such men from the ranks were able to carry on and try to achieve their objectives despite losing their commanders and despite confronting heavy German resistance. Flesh and blood would charge across No Man’s Land at the wire and the German defenders without artillery and tank support. Remarkably large numbers fought their way into the German lines at Bullecourt. The Australians achieved the impossible and cemented their reputation as an effective, reliable and formidable force. Marshal Foch regarded the soldiers of the AIF as ‘the finest shock troops in the world’.


Gough, however, committed the 58th and 62nd Divisions, who were untried. It was here that they would learn vital lessons as they experienced battle for the first time — if they survived. It was the experienced battalions from the 7th Division who would capture Bullecourt after a two-week struggle during May 1917. The British forces must be commended for their role in overcoming a strong German defence. They were given a daunting objective. Ordered to go into the ruins of the village fortified by snipers and machine gun emplacements amongst the rubble and against an enemy able to deploy reserves via a network of underground tunnels beneath the village, all three British divisions suffered heavily at Bullecourt but would play an important role in overwhelming the German defence.


The bloody sacrifices made by Australian and British soldiers notwithstanding, the fighting at Bullecourt resulted in the first breakthrough of the ‘impregnable’ Hindenburg Line. Captain W Maile from the 2/3rd Home Counties Field Ambulance who led stretcher bearers under German machine gun fire to recover British wounded, wrote:




The battle of Bullecourt was one of the fiercest and bloodiest of the war. Bullecourt was a village of a few hundred inhabitants very strongly held and fortified by the Hun. The only trouble was it caused a nasty bulge in our fairly straight front line. The Higher Authorities strongly objected to this and so decided it must be taken! After weeks of fighting and the efforts of four Divisions with all the necessary guns, it still held out. Of course hundreds of men were killed, but things like that seemed to be of very little importance to the high command. It probably inflated their ego. It required five divisions, roughly 60,000 men, to take the village. We were the last division to have a go after four divisions had failed. Eventually we took it, but at a terrible cost in lives.2





The village was reduced to rubble. It was in British hands by the end of May, but the overall objective — to make a sufficient gap in the Hindenburg Line at Bullecourt to enable Gough’s 4th Cavalry Divisions to break through the German lines and join Allenby’s three cavalry divisions at Arras to deliver a decisive victory and win the war — had failed. The loss of 17,000 men was a disaster and Bullecourt would contain lessons for all military commanders in how not to conduct a battle.


Bullecourt caused much consternation because one nation’s army was being commanded by another nation’s generals. Bullecourt forced the Australian Government to request direct Australian command of its own men, which would result in the appointment of General John Monash commanding the Australian Corps. The Australian Imperial Force was a highly trained, experienced resource, which would raise its profile from being a colonial support force into a pivotal, dependable fighting machine, one that would help the allies defeat Germany. Lieutenant Colonel Raymond Leane, commander of the 48th Battalion recalled:




As the Australians commenced at Gallipoli on April 25, 1915, so they fought throughout the Great War – always brave and cheerful, and full of dash; frequently directed to do the seemingly impossible. Named storm troops by our enemy, and evidently assessed at that value by the High Command; for it cannot be denied that the Australians were exploited to their fullest extent.3





The acrimony between Australian and British command and the politicking amongst all commanders involved with this tragic story has been well documented. This book tackles the subject of Bullecourt from a different angle. Although it features the story of the battle at staff level and provides a narrative of the desperate battle for the village, it focuses on the personal experiences of the men who fought at Bullecourt, how it affected them, how their loss affected their families after the war, and how they are remembered.


My great-grandfather, Private William Kendall, was killed during the battle for the village on 13th May, while serving with 22nd Manchester Regiment. I knew very little about what he did during this terrible war. I was the first member of my family to visit the Arras Memorial, in April 1999. Since he was listed as missing and has no known grave, his name is commemorated there. Soon after, my father and I made a pilgrimage to Arras and Bullecourt to follow in Private William Kendall’s footsteps. Through the help of my friend, Yves Fohlen, the French author and military historian, I was able to discover more about what happened at Bullecourt and surmise what could have happened to my great-grandfather.


Yves’ friendship has prompted me to make many pilgrimages to Bullecourt during the past decade. His knowledge is vast. I have been moved to see how the French inhabitants of the village and surrounding region pay homage to the soldiers who travelled from foreign lands to fight for their freedom, a century after the war ended. Their appreciation is displayed by the memorials that they have built. Their attendance and the prominent role they play at the annual ANZAC Day ceremonies in April demonstrate their heartfelt gratitude towards these brave men. Personally I have experienced a warm welcome from the villagers of Bullecourt. In particular, my family and I remember the kind hospitality of the late Jean and Denise Letaille, who invited us into their home because our ancestor had been killed at Bullecourt so many years ago.
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David & Paul Kendall (author) grandson and great-grandson of Private William Kendall, who was killed at Bullecourt on 13th May 1917. This pilgrimage to Bullecourt took place on 4th August 1999, 82 years after the battle. (Sylvia Kendall)





The ANZAC Day ceremony at Bullecourt shows that the war is firmly in the collective memory of Australians who travel so far to commemorate their courageous forebears. The Australian Government sends representatives from the Australian Embassy in Paris and from their armed services each year. Many Australian schools make the journey. Mike Goodwin, a teacher from Mackay School in Queensland, has brought his students on a sombre yet life enhancing experience to visit the World War One battlefields of Turkey, France and Belgium on several occasions. They too play a role in the ANZAC Day ceremony at Bullecourt, ensuring that the Australian soldiers who fought there will never be forgotten.


The British who fought at Bullecourt came from communities throughout Britain including London, Manchester, Yorkshire, Devonshire, Wales and Scotland. Several thousand British soldiers would make the ultimate sacrifice at Bullecourt. Many British men who had emigrated to Australia had also enlisted to join the Australian Imperial Force.


A significant proportion of soldiers killed at Bullecourt have no known grave; 2,249 Australian and 1,876 British soldiers were listed as missing. Among them were veterans of the Gallipoli and Somme campaigns. It is important to analyse the journeys of these men and to look at their experiences prior to Bullecourt. After suffering the ordeals of several battles these soldiers knew what they faced in their attempts to take the village. Those who survived would be affected by their experiences years after the war had ended. Many of the men who were wounded at Bullecourt would endure the discomfort of their wounds for the rest of their lives, while nearly all would carry with them the horrors of their experience, which would impinge on their future lives psychologically. For this reason many soldiers refused to recount their stories after the war and were keen to try to forget.


I hope that I have paid an adequate tribute to these men who fought against tremendous odds to secure a foothold in the formidable Hindenburg Line.


NOTES


1. Reveille: 1st January 1934.


2. IWM Department of Documents: IWM 7266/76/65/1: Captain W.C.D. Maile testimony.


3. Reveille: 1st April 1933: Lieutenant Colonel Raymond Leane, 48th Battalion testimony.




PART ONE


THE ROAD TO BULLECOURT




CHAPTER 1


THE BRITISH JOURNEY TO BULLECOURT


The 7th Division, 58th and 62nd British Divisions played a significant role in the capture of Bullecourt in 1917. The 7th Division was the first of these units to be deployed to join the British Expeditionary Force in 1914, which was sent to resist the German advance through Belgium. Its battalions would see a great deal of action during the early years of the war. Many of the 7th Division troops who fought at Bullecourt in 1917 had been fighting since August 1914. They had endured the deprivations of a squalid life amidst insanitary conditions. They had to survive in waterlogged, muddy trenches, sometimes in the cold and living off meagre rations. Their nerves were shattered; they were far from home and from their families. No one can really comprehend what these men had gone through. Fighting a determined enemy, they bonded with comrades as they depended on each other to get through each day. Many would see their mates die horrific deaths, which would further derange their shell-shattered sensibilities.


The 7th Division had been established with great haste from three regular battalions who remained in England after the British Expeditionary Force left for Belgium, and from nine battalions stationed overseas recalled to England when the war broke out. The 7th Division assembled at Lyndhurst in the New Forest from 31st August until 4th October 1914. The 2nd Border Regiment came from Pembroke Dock in Wales while the 2nd Royal Warwickshire’s and the 1st Royal Welch Fusiliers were recalled from their station at Malta; the 2nd Gordon Highlanders were brought from their post in Egypt; the 2nd Queen’s (Royal West Surrey) Regiment and the 1st South Staffordshire’s were recalled from the Cape. On arrival in the New Forest they prepared themselves for war. By early October 1914 German forces were descending upon the Belgian port of Antwerp. On 4th October 1914 the 7th Division received orders to mobilize and join the Royal Naval Division in an attempt to prevent Antwerp from falling into German hands.


The long journey of the 7th Division to Bullecourt in 1917 began at Southampton on 4th/5th October 1914 when it embarked aboard troopships destined for Antwerp. Within four hours of receiving the order to mobilize, the first units of the 7th Division were boarding troopships. The 22nd Brigade from the 7th Division were regular soldiers from the 1st Royal Welch Fusiliers, 2nd Queen’s (Royal West Surrey) Regiment, 2nd Battalion Royal Warwickshire Regiment and the 1st South Staffordshire’s. Sailing across the English Channel under the protection of the Royal Navy, these units disembarked at the Belgium port at Zeebrugge during 6th/7th October 1914. They were then sent to Bruges and then on to Ghent. They were too late to save Antwerp and were ordered to head for Ypres. At 9.00 pm on 10th October the 7th Division began to march towards Ypres. Reports of German Uhlan patrolling the vicinity were received and they were ordered to march in silence and if they came into contact with the enemy they were to engage them with the bayonet. Soldiers from the 1st Royal Welch Fusiliers had marched 30 miles in 24 hours. Arriving on 14th October exhausted and hungry, for they had not eaten, the 7th Division was ordered to establish a line of defence south east and east of Ypres between Zillebeke and Vormezeele. The battalion was heavily involved in the First Battle of Ypres and when the campaign concluded 37 officers and 1,024 men were lost. Replacements joined the battalion and they took part in the battles of 1915 and at the Somme during 1916.


As German forces advanced towards the Belgian town at Ypres the 7th Division was holding a line from Zandvoorde, south of Gheluvelt, which went northwards straight across the Menin Road towards Zonnebeke. The 2nd Queen’s (Royal West Surrey), 1st Royal Welch Fusiliers and the 1st South Staffordshire’s were holding the line at Zonnebeke while the Borders and the 2nd Gordon Highlanders were holding the line south of the Menin Road. These battalions held off the German thrust to the sea near Gheluvelt during October 1914. The 2nd Gordon Highlanders held the line near to Kruiseecke. On 23rd October 1914, they held off German attacks under enemy artillery and sniper fire. It was during this action that Drummer William Kenny from the battalion rescued five wounded comrades as shells poured down around him. For his courage he was awarded the Victoria Cross. Three years later he would tend the wounded at Bullecourt.


The 7th Division had played an important role in the defence of Ypres. If the German advance had pushed through their lines during October 1914 at Gheluvelt then they would have taken Ypres and captured the Channel ports, which would have dealt a decisive blow. The entire British Expeditionary Force would have been stranded in France and Paris would have been vulnerable. Arguably, the war would have ultimately been lost if it were not for the 7th Division making a stand at Gheluvelt. They paid a heavy price for holding the line against overwhelming German forces and the battalions suffered heavy casualties.


During the early months of 1915 the men of the 7th Division were given a period to rest, recover and reorganise themselves, before they entered operations again later that year.


During May 1915 the Division was commanded by General Hubert Gough. They were ordered to attack German fortified positions at Festubert, which were untouched by the preparatory artillery bombardment. The battalions from this division would find themselves in a similar position at Bullecourt, where they were ordered to attack the fortified Hindenburg Line despite the enemy defensive wire not being cut. During the Battle of Festubert on 16th May 1915 the 1st Royal Welch Fusiliers suffered heavy casualties as they advanced. Despite the strong resistance they overwhelmed the German defences and captured 100 prisoners, at a cost of losing 19 officers and 559 men.


The 22nd Brigade of the 7th Division would receive a mauling during 1915 at the Battle of Loos, 25th September–8th October. It was a significant moment in British military history because it was the first occasion that the British Army used poison gas. The Germans had used gas at Ypres during April 1915. The British response was a failure because a change of wind direction blew the poison back into the faces of the soldiers of the British battalions. The 1st Royal Welch Fusiliers were overcome by the gas before they left their trenches. As the 22nd Brigade advanced towards the German lines at Loos, they found that the artillery had not smashed the German wire. The German machine gun fire savaged the British units.


After sustaining massive casualties during 1915, the British Army had to reorganise and replace the losses with newly trained and inexperienced recruits. Before they reached Bullecourt in 1917, the 7th Division would suffer the ordeal of the Somme campaign during 1916. The 22nd Brigade was at the forefront of the opening assault on 1st July 1916. The 1st Royal Welch Fusiliers bombed their way along the sunken road trench towards Fricourt. They successfully captured five lines of strongly fortified trenches on a front of 800 yards. The battalion entered Fricourt on the morning of 2nd July 1916. The 22nd Brigade launched an attack on Mametz Wood during the early hours of 5th July. The 1st Royal Welch Fusiliers entered the wood, captured and consolidated the German trench system that defended the wood and fought off two German counter attacks.


The 22nd Manchesters and the 1st South Staffordshire’s from the 91st Brigade, 7th Division played a prominent role in the capture of Mametz on 1st July 1916. 2nd Lieutenant Cecil Philcox, who was to later lose his life at Bullecourt, was one of the officers who led the South Staffordshire’s in the assault on the village. The battalion advanced 200 yards across No Man’s Land towards the German front-line trenches with minimal losses. As they continued the attack towards the German second line trenches they came under heavy German fire from machine gunners positioned at Danzig Alley and from within the village of Mametz. Within fifteen minutes of leaving their starting position they had advanced 700 yards into German lines. They had captured Cemetery Trench, which ran across the southern perimeter of Mametz. The 22nd Manchesters had captured Bucket Trench on their eastern flank. The South Staffordshire’s proceeded to enter the ruins of Mametz, until a German counter attack from the north and north-west of the village forced them to pull back towards Cemetery Trench. Small parties from the South Staffordshire’s held onto their positions in the rubble. At 9.30 am reinforcements from the 2nd Queen’s (Royal West Surrey) Regiment and the 21st Manchester Regiment arrived to support the counter assault upon Mametz. Both these battalions also took part in the battle for Bullecourt in 1917. The 2nd Queen’s went to Bucket Trench to support the 22nd Manchesters and the 21st Battalion supported the South Staffordshire’s. At 1 pm the 2nd Queen’s, supported by an artillery barrage, had captured Danzig Alley, which led north-eastwards from Mametz, The 1st South Staffordshire’s simultaneously fought their way back into Mametz, reaching small pockets which had held on throughout the morning. They captured houses in the south sector of the village, and then drove their attack through the centre and up the north-eastern part of Danzig Alley, which had been captured by the 2nd Queen’s.


When the 7th Division was relieved on 20th July, they had suffered 7,500 casualties during the first three weeks of the Somme campaign. The 7th Division was back in the line during September when on 3rd September the 1st Royal Welch Fusiliers attacked Guillemont, losing 50 per cent casualties after two days of fighting.


2nd Lieutenant Ralph Cooney, who would command Tank 795 at Bullecourt, had seen action during the Somme Campaign as an infantry officer while serving with the 2nd Royal Scots Fusiliers. On 12th October 1916 Cooney advanced with the battalion in an assault on the Butte de Warlencourt. He was in the rear waves and saw the majority of the attacking force in front of him mown down by German machine gun fire. The battalion made an advance of 150 yards and was forced to withdraw. Cooney later recalled the horror:




The attack we took part in was on 12th October near the Butte de Warlencourt, Ligny Thilloy and le Barque, three villages behind the line. … we had to attack up a reverse slope where we were quite protected from the Bosch and then over the top of the hill the Bosch had his lines down there; and the Bosch had a very powerful machine gun barrage rigged up. The preliminary bombardment did not disturb it. The result was we attacked in four lines one after the other and as each one went over the top it got caught in this machine gun fire and was wiped out. I was in the last column and I found myself in all this peat. I got myself down into a hole and stayed there until it was dark. How I was not hit in that attack I never can remember. I had bullets through my hat, I had a belt with a pistol and a bullet had gone inside the belt and out through the buckle through my trousers.1





After several months of fighting on the Somme, battalions were severely decimated compelling the British Army to be reorganised. The 2nd HAC (Honourable Artillery Company), which would assault Bullecourt on 3rd May 1917, would form part of that reorganisation process. The fresh battalion replaced the 2nd Royal Irish of the 22nd Brigade, 7th Division, on 2nd October 1916. The 2nd HAC was a territorial unit which had been formed at the start of the war. It had remained in England during the first two years of the war and its sole purpose was to train and send replacement men to bolster the 1st HAC fighting in France.


Private William Parry-Morris had joined the 2nd HAC on his 18th birthday on 23rd April 1915. Parry-Morris was a law student studying at the University of Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, when war broke out. His father was a reservist and was recalled to England to serve in the British Army and brought his family with him. His father made William promise that he would not enlist until he was aged 18 and he honoured that promise. He chose to serve with the HAC because he met an officer from the regiment on the passage from Canada to England. He had to enlist at the headquarters at Armoury House, Finsbury Pavement in London. It was his first visit to London and he found it difficult to find his way around the capital. Before entering the headquarters to enlist he was accosted by a woman who presented him with a white feather. ‘I said “you can have it back in half an hour”.’2


The enlistment process was swift. ‘I was accepted as a volunteer straight away and given my uniform and everything within two hours.’3 After completing basic training Parry-Morris and the 2nd HAC carried out guard duties at the Tower of London during 1915. Apart from guarding the Main Gate and Wharf Gate, they also took part in the Ceremony of the Keys, which took place each evening, as well as guarding the Bank of England and the Royal Mint.


The steady pace of daily sentry duty was tame for the young men of the battalion. Parry-Morris considered his experience at the Tower as ‘boring’4 and was keen to get to the Western Front and play an active role in the war.


Wounded soldiers from the 1st HAC brought home to recover from wounds sustained on the front would tell of the horrors of war to the inexperienced soldiers from the 2nd HAC. Despite being told how bad life was in the trenches, Parry-Morris wanted to get to the war in France as soon as possible.


During August 1916, the 2nd HAC received orders to mobilize. Lieutenant Colonel Albert Lambert-Ward was assigned as battalion commander towards the end of September 1916. Lambert-Ward had served with the HAC since 1893 and when he was appointed Commanding Officer of the 2nd Battalion he had been commanding Howe Battalion of the 63rd (Royal Naval) Division on the western front. They were given 10 days embarkation leave. The 2nd HAC marched from the Tower of London at 6 am on 1st October to Victoria Station. There was no fanfare, no ceremony, no Londoners lining the streets of the city of London to say farewell. They travelled by train to Southampton where they embarked aboard the paddle steamer La Marguerite. Nine hundred soldiers from the 2nd HAC arrived in Havre in October 1916. They were then sent by train to Steenwerck in Belgium. Here they were met by Brigadier General Steele, commanding officer of the 22nd Brigade, who was not pleased that the experienced 2nd Royal Irish were to be replaced by the 2nd HAC, a Territorial battalion with no experience. The battalion took over trenches at Ploegsteert Wood. They spent two weeks in the trenches there during October, 25 yards from the German trenches. Private William Parry-Morris recalled that in the first days the 2nd HAC spent the initial period in the line at Sanctuary Wood, despite the battalion unit history stating that they first deployed to Ploegsteert Wood. Parry-Morris described Sanctuary Wood: ‘Very little of the wood left, honeycombed with trenches, but very few trees … there was not much of the wood left, just a few tree stumps.’5


The 2nd HAC very soon would become aware of a particular hazard at Ploegsteert Wood: ‘If a shell happened to hit a tree stump, you got some splinters.’6 Parry-Morris described the intolerable conditions which these men endured while in the line. ‘Trenches full of water … very poor dug-outs, just a hole in the trench wall, nothing like the German dug-outs.’7


At Ploegsteert Wood the 2nd HAC sustained their first two casualties. ‘One of our fellows, although he was warned not to do it, put his head above the top and was shot through the head straight away.’8 German snipers were vigilant and the trenches were no place to behave impulsively. Parry-Morris:




The wood was still standing, very thick wood and very heavily shelled all the time … our trenches were on the edge of the wood … plenty of shelling but no attack. The trenches were not very deep because around the Ypres salient, if you dug below 2 or 3 feet in the ground, you struck water at once, so you had to build it up with sandbags.9





The 2nd HAC was ordered to deploy to Beaumont Hamel on the Somme during November 1916. They had to march 25 km a day for several days in order to get there. The distance from the Ypres salient to the Somme was a hundred miles. On portable cookers pulled by horses, cooks would prepare food as the battalion marched. They first experienced life on the Somme at Bertrancourt, near Beaumont Hamel. At Beaumont Hamel the 2nd HAC took part in the Battle of Ancre. Parry-Morris remembered feeling ‘apprehensive’ prior to the attack. ‘Remember going over the top, did not see any Germans at all, they retreated, but we took the German trenches and I had to dig in to make sure we could hold them, and we stayed there for two days and two nights.’10


‘We were fired at … they did not retreat until we attacked them … machine gun fire and plenty of shells.’11




On our right when we attacked at Beaumont Hamel, the 51st Highland Division went over on the right of us and they had a lot of casualties and I can always remember talking about bayonets, seeing a dead Gordon Highlander and a dead German, each with a bayonet in each other lying in a shell hole. They killed each other with bayonets.12





The 2nd Battalion HAC had sustained 30 to 50 casualties during their baptism of fire. They had returned to Bertrancourt to their billets, but would go back to Beaumont Hamel where they held the line during the cold winter of 1916–17. ‘Awful, the mud at Beaumont Hamel was terrible, waist deep in some places … very miserable, very cold too.’13


Seven days in trenches then seven days out of the line were spent at Bertrancourt in huts. Sleep deprivation while in the trenches became a problem: ‘Difficult to sleep, trenches were full of mud and our dug-outs were very poor.’14


Vermin were everywhere. Parry-Morris described how rats feasted upon the fallen: ‘There were some German dug-outs on the slope behind the front line and I was wondering around them one night and there were three dead Germans lying in one of these dug-outs and the rats had been eating their faces.’15




We called lice chats. We were absolutely alive with them. We had to take our shirts and vest off, turned it inside out and run a candle along the seams of the shirt to kill all the eggs. There were absolutely hundreds of them … it is not an exaggeration to say that there were a couple of hundred on you.16





By April 1917 the 7th Division was commanded by Major General Thomas Shoubridge and all units, including the 2nd HAC who joined the Division in late 1916, had gained valuable experience during the short time that they had served on the Western Front.


The 62nd (West Riding) Division commanded by Major General Walter Braithwaite was formed in 1915. These men were recruited from Yorkshire. The 62nd Division arrived in France on 13th January 1917 and had entered the line on 15th February on the Ancre sector of the Somme. Although most of his men had not been tested in battle, Braithwaite had been Chief of Staff to General Ian Hamilton during the Gallipoli campaign and consequently had some knowledge of how not to fight a war. Held in contempt by some Australian commanders for his role in Gallipoli, it may have been politically insensitive to place Braithwaite close to I ANZAC Corps at Bullecourt. Though he had been personally affected by the war. His only son Valentine Braithwaite, serving with the 1st Somerset Light Infantry, was killed at Beaumont Hamel on 2nd July 1916, listed as missing. When the 62nd Division was holding the line on the Somme during February 1917 Braithwaite spent precious spare hours searching shell holes in vain for his son.


The 62nd Division did have some experienced soldiers within its ranks, amongst them William Watson. At Bullecourt he would die while commanding the 2nd/5th Battalion Kings Own Yorkshire and Lancashire Infantry on 3rd May 1917. During August 1914 he was serving with the Somerset Light Infantry in Belgium and took part in the retreat from Mons. He distinguished himself during this action and was twice mentioned in dispatches. With heavy losses sustained during the 1914 campaign he was able to climb through the ranks quickly. During early 1915 he was promoted to Brevet Major and when he was wounded near Ypres in June 1915 he was in command of his own battalion.


The 62nd Division would experience war for the first time in rearguard actions with German forces as they withdrew towards the Hindenburg Line during March and April 1917. The 58th Division, made up of inexperienced battalions from London, also arrived in France in January 1917 and would be thrown in at the deep end when they were ordered to take Bullecourt during May.


All three British Divisions, the 7th, 58th and 62nd, would suffer through the harsh winter of 1916/17. The freezing conditions made life almost unendurable. Continuous frosts hindered efforts to dig trenches. The food was frozen and difficult to eat. Respiratory diseases including bronchitis and influenza spread quickly throughout the ranks. Trench foot, caused by standing in cold and wet terrain, was common. When the frost thawed the soldiers would have to deal with mud swamps. Lieutenant Gordon Wills wrote of the harsh weather conditions that the 22nd Machine Gun Company endured during that winter:




We were billeted in a French farmhouse with stone floors. We had five small stoves to warm the quarters, of which one was for the officers and four for the troops. It was infernally cold and there was no alternative means of getting warm except exercising, but one can’t exercise and sleep at the same time. So we all sat around the one stove set aside for the officers. Often we invited a Sgt or two or other NCOs to sit with us. That frost lasted 28 days. It ended with snow and sleet and just to celebrate the occasion, we were ordered back to the front line to relieve one of the battalions that had reinforced us when we had come out. The line had broken under German counter attack. We had to go back and restore the line. There is nothing worse than melting mud, which of course happened as soon as it started to rain. After that incident and the break in the weather we had a quiet time for a few weeks. There were occasional scraps but nothing serious. I think both we and the Germans were fed up with the weather and the long cold winter.17
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CHAPTER 2


THE TANKS FROM CONCEPTION TO BULLECOURT


Tanks had first appeared on the battlefield six months prior to the attack on Bullecourt in April 1917. General Gough would have been aware of their deployment and had seen their potential as well as their vulnerabilities. After all, he had ordered their use during the attacks on Thiepval and Beaumont Hamel during 1916. The landships made their debut on 15th September 1916, during the latter stages of the Somme campaign and from then until 1917 their performance in battle had a mixed reception. A large number of tanks were either late arriving at their designated starting positions at Zero Hour or they completely broke down during the course of the battle. In the few instances when they did reach their objectives and captured enemy positions with minimum loss of life, they were highly regarded.


The failure of the tank at Bullecourt was a watershed in the early stages of tank warfare. It was the first time that they had been used on a small front en masse and the first time that infantry would attack a strongly fortified position supported by tanks alone, without artillery support. So much depended upon the tank at Bullecourt on 11th April. It is therefore important to look at the development of the tank and performance from its first appearance on the battlefield on the Somme through to that disastrous day at Bullecourt.


When trenches were dug from the Swiss border across the fields of France to the Belgian coast, towards the end of October 1914, the war of movement came to an end. Trenches defended by acres of belts of tangled barbed wire caused a stalemate preventing both Allied and German forces from making any advances impossible. The trench barrier would prove to be impassable to existing vehicles. Flesh and bone could not cross No-Man’s Land. During early 1915, both sides sought ways of overcoming the obstacle of the unconquerable trenches and barbed wire. The German answer to breaking the stalemate was to use gas. During April 1915, in defiance of the Geneva Convention, German forces unleashed gas for the first time into the Canadian and French lines north-east of Ypres. Whilst prompting international condemnation, the Germans succeeded in making a breakthrough.


The British answer to overcoming the trench was the tank. In an initiative supported by Winston Churchill, the First Lord of the Admiralty, the British Government approved the experimental phase in 1915 and the Treasury provided funds to finance the venture. Lieutenant Colonel Ernest Swinton was one of the main protagonists in the conception of the tank as a new form of weapon. Swinton, from the Royal Engineers, had first suggested using armoured caterpillar tanks as a means to cross trenches in October 1914. In February 1915 Winston Churchill established the Landships Committee led by Eustace Tennyson d’Eyncourt, Director of Naval Construction, whose remit was to oversee the role, design and implementation of armoured vehicles.


The first tank, known as ‘Little Willie’, was soon built. Swinton produced a report dated 15th June 1915 that detailed the dimensions and specifications of this new armoured weapon. Little Willie did not fit the bill. The tank should be designed within the following criteria: that it should be armour plated in order to protect its occupants from armour piercing bullets; and it should be armed with a light gun or two machine guns for the purpose of destroying enemy strong points. The most important feature was that it should be able to traverse trenches, so it would be necessary for the vehicle to climb a 5-foot bank and cross a trench 5 ft wide. These specifications were sent to Lieutenant Walter Wilson, from the Royal Naval Air Service, and William Triton, who designed the tank. The result was a rhomboid motorized vehicle with a long track length and a low centre of gravity. This new prototype named ‘Big Willie’ or ‘His Majesty’s Ship Centipede’ would become the prototype for the Mark I tanks. Once they had completed the design, Fosters, based in Lincoln, won the contract to build.


The first use of the word tank was in December 1915. Lieutenant Colonel Swinton wrote of how the name for these armoured vehicles came about:




Why ‘Tank’? Why should a fighting automobile have been so inappropriately named? The reply can be given in two words – for secrecy. In its experimental stage the machine was known as a ‘Land-cruiser’ or ‘Landship’. But it is a military platitude that the ‘element of surprise’ – as it is always called in the text-books – has immense value in war; and it was naturally realised that the greatest results to be expected from the employment of this new weapon would be attained if it could be launched unexpectedly, so that the enemy might be caught unprepared to meet it. And when it crystallized into a definite shape, and reached the stage of production, it became obvious that its original names were far too suggestive of the real thing. It was therefore decided to christen it by some non-committal word which would give no inkling of its nature to those not ‘in the know,’ and would, at the same time, be sufficiently descriptive and short to be readily adopted by all legitimately concerned.1





Questions were asked by those who were associated with the construction of these machines about their purpose. There were various rumours and speculation circulating regarding their existence. A common rumour was that they were built to transport water across the deserts of Egypt and Mesopotamia to British soldiers who were either stationed or fighting in these regions. Another rumour suggested that they were destined to be sent to the Russian front to be employed as snow ploughs. The idea that these contraptions were designed for carrying water because they looked like a water tank helped in the provision of a cover story. Swinton described the purported role of the tank:




They are powerfully-engined armed automobiles, enclosed in a bullet-proof casing for the protection of their crews. Propelled on the caterpillar principle, they possess considerable powers of travelling over rough ground, both in crossing trenches, craters, and other cavities, and climbing over raised obstacles such as parapets, can tear their way through wire entanglements, can uproot largish trees, and can throw down the walls of ordinary dwelling-houses. Nevertheless, in spite of their elemental strength and apparent clumsiness, in the hands of skilled drivers they are as docile as trained elephants under their own mahouts.2





The first tank ran on its tracks during early January 1916 and after completing trials lasting a month, the potential of the Mark I tank as a means of breaking through the trenches had won over those sceptics and an order for 100 was placed on 12th February 1916. This order was extended to 150 tanks. There were two different designs for the tank which were named ‘Male’ and ‘Female’ tanks. The Male Tank was armed with two 6 pounder guns with the purpose of destroying strongly held machine gun positions. The Female tank was armed with four light machine guns. Swinton:




The male is par excellence the machine-gun hunter and destroyer. He carries light, quick-firing guns capable of firing shell … The female, which, in accordance with the laws of Nature, is the man-killer, carries nothing but machine-guns for employment against enemy personnel. Her special role is to keep down hostile rifle fire, to beat back counter-attacks and rushes of infantry.3





75 Male and 75 Female Mark I Tanks were constructed by Fosters. As the first batch of tanks was being constructed, Swinton set about recruiting crews. He found suitable recruits for the newly established tank force during March 1916 from within the British Army, from motorized units, the cycling corps, as well as from the Royal Navy.


Six companies were initially formed. Four of those companies were sent to France and took part in the final months of the Somme Campaign September–October 1916. C and D Companies had provided demonstrations to King George V and the Cabinet prior to leaving for France. When the tanks were introduced for the first time in the history of modern warfare in the fields of Picardy, the Somme campaign was three and half months old and in that time British and Commonwealth forces had penetrated four miles deep into German-occupied territory.


As the campaign continued and losses mounted, Field Marshal Sir Douglas Haig, Commander-in-Chief of the BEF, was anxious for a major breakthrough on the Somme before the summer ended. Thiepval and the trenches that formed part of the third German defence line had been objectives for the first day of the campaign and were still occupied by German forces during mid August. Haig was determined to push forward his advance towards Bapaume and capture this third line. In August 1916 Haig ordered Lieutenant General Sir Henry Rawlinson commanding the Fourth Army to make preparations for an offensive to capture the third line of trenches in the middle of September 1916. The plan would involve deploying all the available British Reserve Divisions into an attack north of the Albert-Bapaume Road, which would secure a defensive position on the ridge south of the Ancre valley. At the same time an attack would be driven south of the Albert-Bapaume Road to capture the German third line of trench systems between Le Sars and Morval. If this could be achieved, Haig would send in the cavalry and advance towards Bapaume. Haig was aware of the new weapon, the tank and was very keen to use it to crush enemy wire and enter German trenches.


How were commanders to use this new weapon? Fifty tanks were assigned for operations on the Somme. The first 15 of these tanks began to leave England from 15th August and were transported to France over the following three weeks. Tanks from C and D Company were in forward positions by 10th September and within days they were ordered to take part in an offensive that was to drive through German lines northwards along the Albert–Bapaume Road and pivot on the high ridges south of the River Ancre, to put Haig in a better position to secure Thiepval. At the same time, Haig would also push his front north-east between the villages of Morval and Le Sars, extending the British line. Most of the men from these Companies had not been to France and had not experienced combat.


A demonstration of the tank’s manoeuvrability was given to General Joffre, Sir Douglas Haig and the Staff from General Headquarters. A conference was called on 13th September to plan tactics. When was the right time to deploy the tanks? It was essential that the timing was right. If the tanks started too soon then that would attract German artillery fire. If the tanks arrived too late and the infantry reached their objectives ahead of them, no benefit would be gained in using these secret weapons. After deliberation it was decided the tanks should advance so that when they reached the first objective, they would arrive five minutes ahead of the infantry. They would be deployed in groups of two or three and their role would be to engage and overwhelm enemy strong points.


Tank commanders were shown many aerial reconnaissance photos, which meant very little to them. They were however provided with maps with routes marked and compass bearings to be taken, which were useful. However, for every three tanks, only one set of orders and one map was supplied. This made it very difficult for the other two tank commanders to absorb and understand the content of the orders. Matters were further complicated when at 5.00 pm on 14th September, the orders for the drive towards Bapaume were cancelled and new ones were issued verbally. There were no written orders, so all tank commanders had to digest these orders and commit them to memory.


As they tried to digest what was expected of them, the crews were busy testing spare engine parts, adjusting guns and preparing to drive into battle for the first time. They were attracting the curious attention of British infantry units.


A total of 49 tanks were detailed to lead the drive into the German lines on 15th September 1916 in an attack which would become known as the Battle of Flers-Courcelette. Ten tanks were assigned to the Guards Division and seven were allocated to 6th and 56th Divisions. They carried the left flank and would advance from Delville Wood towards the villages of Ginchy and Flers. Eight tanks were to support the central components of the assault and they advanced between High Wood and east of Martinpuich. 15 Corps was supported by a further 17 tanks as they advanced on the left flank upon trenches between Pozières and Martinpuich.


No one could foresee what the outcome would be. Lieutenant General Sir Henry Rawlinson expressed concern about not having using the tanks soon enough – if they were to prove successful; an odd case of being wise before the event. And if they were to fail in this first attack, then the secret of this new weapon of war would be out. He felt uncomfortable in placing too much reliance upon the tanks. If they were to fail, then the infantry would be vulnerable to heavy casualties. This situation would be echoed at Bullecourt six months later. Gough would place high expectations on the tanks to make a breakthrough, flattening the wire defences to enable the infantry to enter the trenches. Rawlinson was in fear of the tank malfunctioning and exposing his infantry to German machine gun positions. Rawlinson wrote of the dilemma he faced in using the tank in the Flers-Courcelette offensive:




The presence of the fifty ‘tanks’ however raises entirely new, but at the same time somewhat problematical, possibilities. Should they prove successful we might lose valuable time and miss an opportunity by confining our operations only to the capture of system (a) [the Combles-Martinpuich line]. On the other hand we may, by expecting too much of the ‘tanks’, be tempted to undertake an operation which is beyond our power, and which might cause very heavy losses to the ‘tanks’ themselves and to the infantry engaged in their support. Moreover, if the attack failed, the secret of the ‘tanks’ would be given away once and for all. Setting aside the enormous value of first surprise the chief asset of the ‘tanks’ will be lost when they cease to be an unknown quantity. Till the enemy know exactly what they have to deal with they cannot arrange or prepare an antidote. We must therefore endeavour to keep them a mystery as long as possible.4





Zero Hour was 6.00 am on 15th September. Seventeen tanks broke down and failed to reach their designated starting points, as they drove in the dark across the mud and shell holes. One tank had to pass through a sunken road, where many dead German soldiers lay. It was a harrowing experience for the tank driver to grind over these bodies. The tank was claustrophobic. Lacking ventilation, temperatures reaching close to 50 degrees Celsius, the air was polluted by cordite fumes from the weapons and carbon monoxide and fuel vapours from the engine. Inhaling the toxic air caused nausea.


As the guns roared and shells fell on German lines, 32 tanks successfully reached their starting positions. Nine tanks were unable to keep pace with the advancing infantry, but they did prove effective in clearing up enemy positions. Five other tanks were ditched and unable to move; a further nine tanks broke down. These 14 were utilized as rallying points for the infantry. Many of the crews who abandoned these tanks took up arms and joined the infantry on foot.


Nine tanks successfully advanced ahead of the infantry, drove into enemy trenches and caused destruction, but more importantly aroused fear amongst the German defenders as they saw these mechanical beasts for the first time.


Tank 765, commanded by Captain Harold Mortimore, is recorded as being one of the first tanks to enter the battlefield. Mortimore was ordered to support the 14th Division attack upon German trenches east of Delville Wood, then to clear German positions east of Flers. Private Henry Leat, a participant in the first battle at Bullecourt, belonged to the crew of Tank 765 on 15th September 1916.


Infantry from the 6th Battalion Kings Own Yorkshire Light Infantry followed this tank eastwards from Delville Wood and succeeded in reaching the objective and capturing many frightened German soldiers. Mortimore could see the faces of the terrified trench occupants as he opened fire upon them:




I managed to get astride one of the German trenches in front of the wood and opened fire with the Hotchkiss machine-guns. There were some Germans in the dug-outs and I shall never forget the look on their faces when they emerged and saw my tank astride their trench!5





Tank 765 was knocked out of the battle when a shell struck the starboard side killing two of the crewmen and disabling the starboard track. Leat was fortunate to have survived the first battle; but his luck would run out at Bullecourt.


Tank D 17, a D Company tank commanded by Second Lieutenant Stuart Hastie, also succeeded in advancing ahead of the infantry and engaging the enemy effectively. Hastie had named his tank ‘Dinnaken’. He was ordered to assist the British 122nd Infantry Brigade in their attack upon the German lines near to the village of Flers. One tank from his company, D 14, commanded by Second Lieutenant Gordon Court, was wedged in a support trench when it collapsed beneath them. Second Lieutenant Victor Huffam in D 9 made an attempt to pull D 14 from the trench, but as Huffam brought his tank alongside, his sponsoon became entangled with the sponsoon aboard D 14 resulting in both tanks becoming locked together. It was left to Hastie in D 17 to advance towards Flers alone. The tank had to crash through barbed wire before entering the German Flers Trench, a barricade in front of Flers. Before reaching the wire the steering gear of Tank D 17 had been hit. In order to steer the tank they had to apply the brake on each track alternatively to maintain direction along the Flers-Delville Wood Road. Encountering mechanical problems as well as drawing enemy fire, they were in a very precarious situation.


In the skies above the Somme, an observer aboard a reconnaissance aeroplane from the Royal Flying Corps reported a ‘tank seen in main street Flers going on with large number of troops following it’. There was no infantry following Hastie and his crew in D 17; they were alone and isolated in an enemy-occupied village. Some elements of the 124th Brigade entered the village, but were forced to take cover from enemy shell fire and German machine gunners fortified within the village. With no infantry on hand and damaged steering gear, Hastie and his crew were vulnerable. The tank crew commanded by Lieutenant Skinner that entered the village at Bullecourt would face a similar situation.


The presence of the tank in Flers would did have a damaging affect upon the morale of the German occupiers. The British Press celebrated the prospect of ‘a tank seen in the main street of Flers with the British Army cheering behind’ and used it to give hope to the British public. Images of the tank would appear in newspapers and on postcards to celebrate the achievement and breakthrough. For the past two years, trench warfare had slaughtered thousands of British soldiers for very little gain. The vision of a tank breaking through the enemy lines and proceeding through a village occupied by the enemy demonstrated that Britain had found a weapon that could trample over barbed wire; which could enter enemy trenches despite German machine gun fire and could assist in the capture and consolidation of enemy positions.


Despite entering Flers and eventually meeting up with British infantry units, Hastie would experience more mechanical problems as he returned to camp. British infantry units were more concerned with consolidation of Flers Trench and without infantry support in Flers itself, Hastie decided to return to the British lines. As they went back the engine seized up, the tracks of the tank had been knocked out by shell fire and the Tank D 17 was immobilized.


Tanks were faltering on other sectors of the Flers-Courcelette battlefield during that day. The six tanks assigned to support the 2nd Canadian Division experienced difficulties. These were commanded by Captain Arthur Inglis from No.1 Section, C Company Heavy Section Machine Gun Corps and they were ordered to assist the Canadians in their assault upon the heavily fortified sugar factory at Courcelette. Inglis wrote a detailed report of his role in the operation and the role of the section. Inglis commanded Tank No 721 or C5, which he named ‘Crème de Menthe’. From this report we can follow the movements of the first tank operation in the history of warfare. The Tanks from No.1 Section left their position in Albert at 7pm on 14th September, the night before the battle. Tank C5 was then taken by driver Sergeant G. B. Shepherd along the north eastwards along Albert–Bapaume Road leading the five other tanks in the section. It took over two hours to drive to a fuel dump located near to an advanced dressing station 300 yards south of Pozières at 9.20 pm. They replenished the tank with oil and petrol supplies at a dump and at midnight they proceeded to their starting positions at the Windmill situated north east of Pozières. Inglis and the seven crewmen aboard C5 had no sleep that night. The other crews also lacked sleep. As the tanks made their way through German shell fire to reach their starting position the stub axle broke off on Tank No.522 C2 commanded by Lieutenant F.W. Bluemal. This setback occurred in Pozières and had to be repaired.


Inglis arrived at the start position at 2 am on the morning of 15th September. (Today, the Tank Memorial stands near to the starting positions of No.1 Section C Company.) As they waited they endured a torrent of enemy shell fire. A shell destroyed one of the rear wheels of Inglis’s tank. Shell fire damaged the steering wheel aboard Tank No.709, C1, commanded by Lieutenant A.J.C. Wheeler.


Most of the tanks of No. 1 section never reached the sugar factory. 2nd Lieutenant G.O.L. Campbell experienced difficulties when the left track on Tank No. 503 C4 became loose. Under shell fire two of his crew, Corporal C.N. Harrison and Private D.D Cronin, tightened both of the tracks to keep going. Despite the brave efforts of Harrison and Cronin the tank was unable to get to the starting point. Campbell ordered Harrison to take the crew back to base, while he joined Captain Inglis and accompanied him into battle.


Lieutenant Bluemal in Tank 522 C2 that broken a stub axle earlier that morning had further problems at Zero Hour. Bluemal later reported to Inglis:




We had to adjust the tracks at Zero, before starting off and proceeded to move off (6.20 am); and at 6.50 got stuck at the point 35.a.3.9 owing to being unable to steer properly. The steering gear having been broken, and we had to steer on brakes which was difficult as the crump holes are so numerous and the tank slipped sideways into communication trench. We succeeded in digging ourselves out and started off again, but owing to the difficulty of steering we could not get away from the C.T.6





Bluemel and his crew were in a deadly situation as they were wedged tightly in a Communication Trench. Having got his crew out of the tank, they tried in vain to dislodge the vehicle. For an hour they showed great determination and tenacity in trying to free the tank. Under heavy shell fire they made a brave attempt to dig themselves out. They managed to get the tank moving but without the ability to steer they were unable to get it right out of the trench. Despite strenuous efforts to lever the tank with timber Bluemel had no choice but to abandon it and return to British lines. Bluemel later wrote:




We succeeded in digging ourselves out and started off again, but owing to the difficulty of steering we could not get away from the C.T we then shoved the side up with timber and managed to get the tank on the ground. We were unable to carry on all the time as we were continuously under heavy shell fire. We eventually had to cease work at 8.00 pm owing to the shelling caused by our infantry reinforcements coming up. We removed our gunlocks, fastened up the tank and brought the crew back.7





Shell fire had also knocked out the steering gear aboard Tank No.701 C3 commanded by 2nd Lieutenant S.D.H. Clark. They could go no further when this tank was stuck in a large shell hole containing several broken tree trunks. Clark and his crew laboured for three and a half hours to try to dig out the tank while exposed to enemy fire.


Tank No. 709 C1 had its steering wheel damaged by shell fire en route to the starting position. Lieutenant A.J.C. Wheeler, commanding the tank would face further problems with a loose track that had to be tightened before Zero Hour. At 6.20 am they began the advance towards the sugar factory but never reached it; at 7.00 am Tank 709 C1 had bellied, which meant the tracks of the tank were turning round but the tank was unable to move. For nearly four hours the crew, assisted by three Canadian soldiers, tried to dig out the tank. By 10.45 am the German shelling became so intense that it was impossible to continue. Wheeler ordered his crew and the three Canadian soldiers to the rear.
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Tank D17 commanded by Lieutenant Stuart Hastie entering Flers. (The Great War, Amalgamated Press 1917)





Only two tanks managed to reach the sugar factory at Courcelette. Tank No.504 C6 commanded by 2nd Lieutenant John Allen came through enemy shell fire and engaged the enemy on several occasions heading towards Courcelette. The tank then headed for the factory but found the position to have been captured by the Canadians who had been assisted by Captain Inglis in Tank 721 C5. On seeing that there was no further work for them, they returned to camp.


So Inglis’s Tank 721 C5 was the only tank from No.1 Section to assist the Canadian infantry from the 21st (Eastern Ontario) Battalion in overwhelming the garrison at the factory at Courcelette and then capturing it. The Canadians were far ahead of Inglis and were pinned down in shell holes in front of deadly German machine gun fire coming from the factory. Inglis recounted his part in the first tank assault in an official report:




At Zero [6.20 am] we commenced our advance and made for the SUGAR FACTORY, which was my objective. Soon after crossing our front line trench, a group of about 50 Germans came up towards the tank to surrender. Our infantry was well in advance of the tank, and were in the SUGAR FACTORY by the time I arrived; but I was able to make use of my Hotchkiss Guns. I skirted the southern and eastern side of the factory and went up to the trench where our infantry were consolidating. Having found an officer who informed me that the position had been made good, I commenced my return journey, and laid out about 400 yards of telephone wire which I carried on the tail of the tank. In this I was assisted by an officer of the Signals. Before reaching the Windmill the wire drum was smashed in by a shell. I eventually reached a point on the Pozières-Albert Road 300 yards from the Camp, when the track came completely off. The successful way in which we reached our objective and eventually withdrew was due to the very fine driving of Sergt. Shepherd, A.S.C.8





Magnus McIntyre Hood was one of the Canadian soldiers from the 24th Battalion (Queen Victoria’s Rifles) who had advanced to the sugar factory and bore witness to the first effective use of a tank in battle:




The attack had been held up at this point, and a party of us had to rush up with more ammunition, bullets and grenades, to the 21st Battalion, lying in shell holes in front of the refinery. As we reached them, we saw a ‘landship’, named the Crème de Menthe, pass ahead, and go right up to the walls of the refinery, its guns blazing. It seemed to lean against one of the walls which collapsed, and the monster roared into the fort, while we could see the Germans streaming out of it, offering an excellent target to the riflemen in shell holes.9





The startled Germans also described the tank as a monster. The German infantry holding the trenches were shocked and distressed when they first saw a tank approaching their lines. Although many of the tanks broke down that day, those that engaged with the enemy had a powerful effect upon the senses and morale of these men. They brought fear and terror to an enemy who had defended their trenches with dogged determination. Feldwebel Weinert, serving with the 211th Infantry Regiment wrote of the initial German perception of this new, fearsome weapon of war:




A man came running in from the left, shouting, ‘There is a crocodile crawling into our lines!’ The poor wretch was off his head. He had seen a tank for the first time and had imagined this giant of a machine, rearing up and dipping down as it came, to be a monster. It presented a fantastic picture, this Colossus in the dawn light. One moment its front section would disappear into a crater, with the rear section still protruding, the next its yawning mouth would rear up out of the crater, to roll slowly forward with terrifying assurance.10





German High Command did not alert the German public to the new weapon used by the British at Flers. The thought of the new tanks horrified German commanders for they could see the potential threat could alter the balance of the war.


The role of No.1 Section at Courcelette can be regarded as a partial success because the objective was achieved, however the malfunctioning of the majority of the tanks and damaged sustained to them by shell fire meant that most of the section had failed. Despite the failure, Inglis had shown the potential of the tank as an effective weapon.


Lieutenant-General Julian Byng who commanded the Canadian Corps wrote an assessment of the performance of the tanks during the assault on Courcelette. Overall he was pleased with their role in aiding his Canadian troops in capturing the sugar factory: ‘The tanks were very useful at the Sucrerie; they had a fairly good road to reach their objective, and consequently arrived very quickly.’11 Byng was referring to the two tanks which reached the sugar factory and in his report he did highlight the failings of the tank at Flers. These failings would be repeated six months later at Bullecourt.
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Tank commanded by Captain Arthur Inglis on way to attack Sugar Factory at Courcelette on 15th September 1916. (Author)





Byng comments on the lack of synchronization of tank and infantry starting times and the lack of communication between them. He identified the limitations of the tank when travelling over uneven ground. ‘It seems conclusively proved that the tanks cannot move over the shell-pitted ground except on rare occasions; but with a fairly good road or track they ought to reach their objective.’12 Byng also recognised their vulnerability to shell fire and mechanical fragility. ‘They are very susceptible to injury from shell, and are liable to break down.’13


Despite these failings Byng could see the positive impact of the tank as a means to assist advancing infantry and as a weapon to terrorise the enemy:




Sometimes the infantry will be far ahead (as in this case) when the tank can come up later and assist in mopping up, and sometimes the infantry may be hung up when the tank may break down the defence. Neither the infantry nor the tanks advance at a level pace. Without doubt, the tanks are a moral support to infantry so long as they are in action, and a good deal of the shrapnel is diverted from the infantry on to them.14





In conclusion Byng was certain that reliance should never be placed upon the tank in battle, but only to assist the infantry. ‘No action of the infantry should ever be made subservient to that of the tanks. Tanks are a useful accessory to the infantry, but nothing more.’15 If Gough had studied Byng’s report he may not have proceeded with the shambolic attack on the Hindenburg Line at Bullecourt in April 1917.


Major General R.E. Turner commanding the 2nd Canadian Division echoed those sentiments in his report on the action of the tanks from No.1 Section C Company, Heavy Section Machine Gun Corps. He strongly felt that the usefulness of the tank would be in assisting the process of consolidation of captured positions:




From my experience it seemed that mopping up will, in future, be the chief role of these engines. Tanks suitably placed would release a large number of men, at present required for mopping up, as they would be able to deal promptly with any enemy attempting to resist after the leading waves had passed: it would probably be sufficient to leave a small party to clear dug-outs and round up prisoners.16





Turner concluded in his report by highlighting the weak areas of the tank. ‘The tanks appear to be immune to everything but a direct hit by something larger than a field gun, except the steering gear and tail which are at present weak spots.’17


The Battle of Flers–Courcelette had demonstrated that the German trenches were no longer impregnable. Providing there were no mechanical breakdowns, or damaged sustained from direct hits by shell fire, the tank could enter German trenches and take out fortified positions. The most important feature of the tank was to invoke fear in the enemy.


The idea of sending men protected by armoured machines across No Man’s Land to reaching enemy trenches with minimal casualties was a seductive proposition. Colonel E.D. Swinton later wrote of the necessity to exploit the concept of armoured vehicles:




That Friday in September, 1916, marked a step forward. It was the beginning of an era in which dwindling manpower will force more and more into prominence the necessity for the conservation of life, and in which the power and insensibility of machinery will have to be as fully exploited upon the field of battle as they have been in history.18





The credibility of the tank as a means of breaking through was further enhanced 11 days later at Geudecourt on the Somme. On 26th September one tank, D 14, commanded by 2nd Lieutenant Charles Storey, advancing with infantry, attacked Gird Trench, located south east of the village of Geudecourt. When the infantry were held up by strong resistance in Gird Trench, D 14 was called upon to attack the trench in support of the infantry. With the aid of a low flying reconnaissance aeroplane they were able to enter the trench. This sole tank approached the enemy from the southern end of the trench. At the same time the aeroplane was flying above and firing its own machine gun. D 14 drove along Gird Trench attracting heavy enemy fire until the petrol was exhausted. German bullets penetrated inside the cabin of the tank and all but two of Storey’s crew were wounded. The Germans were trapped within their own trench. By 8.30 am, after sustaining many casualties eight German officers with 362 men were waving white handkerchiefs. This trench and the 370 prisoners were captured at a loss of only five casualties. In recognition of the achievement of D 14, Storey was awarded the Distinguished Service Order.


On that same day at midday on 26th September General Gough launched an offensive to capture Thiepval Ridge. Soldiers from the Salford Pals had been wiped out by German machine gunners as they struggled towards this heavily fortified garrison on 1st July 1916. In this second attempt to remove the German occupiers, Gough used the element of surprise to evict them, together with eight tanks. No artillery barrage was fired so as not to alert the enemy. The tanks helped the infantry to enter the German trenches before the enemy machine gunners rose from the deep dug-outs to repel the attack.


The performance of these companies had impressed the British commanders to the extent that Haig ordered production of 1,000 tanks and that each of the six existing companies be expanded into a battalion. Volunteers to form these battalions were selected from motor machine-gun batteries and from other corps within the British Army. A, B, C and D Battalions would be formed in France, E and F in England. Each battalion would consist of three companies that would contain 12 tanks. Tanks had been assigned to the Machine Gun Corps as a cover and for pay and administration purposes.


As mentioned, Male tanks with 6-pounder naval guns on the port and starboard sides were to engage fortified positions. Female tanks carried two machine guns on the left and right turrets, with the purpose of chasing and hunting down enemy infantry units. Tanks would carry 25 rounds of 6-pounder ammunition for both left and right guns. Female tanks would carry a dozen boxes of machine gun ammunition for both sides with 1,000 rounds in belts or in drums for Lewis machine guns. According to Bullecourt veteran Corporal Ernie Hayward, aviation fuel was used in the tanks. Tanks could travel at 9 or 10 mph downhill and at 4 mph uphill.


D Company had been withdrawn from the Somme region on 27th November 1916 and sent to billets in the Blangy-sur-Ternoise area. With the expansion of the Heavy Section Machine Gun Corps and in order to incorporate new tanks and recruits into a branch that would evolve into the Tank Corps, it was decided that D Company would form the nucleus for the newly formed D Battalion. Brigadier General J. Hardress Lloyd DSO was appointed commander of D Battalion. He had previously commanded the 1st Inniskillen Fusiliers. The battalion would comprise three companies: Nos 10, 11 and 12, each company being organised into four sections. No. 11 Company, commanded by Captain H Mortimore, would take part in the first attack on Bullecourt. No.12 Company commanded by Major J.J. Joyce would take part in the second battle of Bullecourt. Reinforcements for D Battalion were drawn from infantry, MMG (Motorised Machine Gun Branch) and Cyclists Corps who were already based in France. These men would take part in the Battle of Bullecourt and some of them had already experienced combat. Lieutenant Hugh Swears had seen action in a tank. 2nd Lieutenant Ralph Cooney serving with the 2nd Royal Scots Fusiliers advanced on the Butte de Warlencourt on 12th October 1916 and witnessed the majority of the attacking force being wiped out by German machine gun fire. Cooney also experienced battle inside a tank when he commanded one during the assault in Vimy Ridge on 9th April 1917, three weeks before taking part in the second Bullecourt battle. 2nd Lieutenant Harold Clarkson was another tank commander who had seen action before Bullecourt. Clarkson was an insurance clerk before the war. When war erupted he enlisted and served in the Royal Army Medical Corps as a Private prior to transferring to the Northumberland Fusiliers where he was commissioned as a 2nd Lieutenant. Clarkson had been wounded on 1st July 1916 when the Northumberland Fusiliers advanced on La Boiselle on the first day of the Somme campaign. 2nd Lieutenant Herbert Chick is another example for he had served at Antwerp during 1914 and Gallipoli in 1915 as a rating with Hawke Battalion, Royal Naval Division. Chick would command a tank during the second Bullecourt battle.
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Tank D 14 commanded by 2nd Lieutenant Charles Storey, capture of Gird Trench Geudecourt on 26th September 1916. (Author)
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A British tank attacking German occupied trenches at Beaumont Hamel November 1918. (Author)
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The potential of the tank in modern warfare was realised during the Somme campaign in 1916. Britain had found a way of crossing No Man’s Land in defiance of barbed wire and machine guns. (Author)





These reinforcements arrived at Blangy-sur-Ternoise during December 1916. The officers and NCOs were sent on a maintenance and driving course at Bernicourt, which lasted a week. Further training was given to everyone in the battalion on the use of the 6-pounder naval gun and Lewis machine gun. They also developed infantry, reconnaissance and signalling skills as well as receiving instruction on Anti-gas measures and physical training.


During January 1917 tactical training involving dummy tanks took place. This was a very bizarre experience for the men who took part. Corporal Ernie Hayward remembered the primitive methods of training tank crews using mock-up tanks made of wooden frames and canvas:




We could not get tanks so we had mock-up tanks, a wooden frame, with a canvas screen around it and go lumbering about over trenches and ditches and all sorts of things and imagine that we were in some sort of tank. It was not on wheels, but carried by the crews being trained.19





Hayward regarded these eccentric efforts with amusement and recalled that the crews regarded these mock up tanks as ‘a latrine’. He remembered that a crew of seven would be involved and ‘sometimes the right gunner would fall in a hole and he would have to be dug out.’20 The purpose of this training was ‘to enable the tank commander to get familiar with his crew and give tank movement orders.’21


2nd Lieutenant Ralph Cooney (commander of Tank 795 at second Bullecourt) also recalled how tank crews were trained during the early days of the Tank Corps:




We had the weapons; they existed, not in the tanks but on mountings in the training area. We had not got the vehicles; they were all in workshops teed up for the next battle. We made up mock tanks out of hessian and wood, which we carried about and pretended that they were tanks. For our technical training we went across to Bernicourt where the headquarters was and where they had a stripped down tank in a marquee. It was a very cold winter and it was all frozen up.22





As tank crews were being trained fifty Mark II tanks were being built from December 1916 to January 1917. The Mark II Tank was never intended to be used in combat and they were only built for training purposes. The Mark II was identical to its predecessor, the Mark 1 Tank except the tail had been removed and it was unarmoured, as the steel was not heat treated to resist bullets. A crew of eight would be used to drive it and it could travel at 3.7 miles per hour with a range of 23 miles.
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British tanks support the Canadian Infantry assault upon Vimy Ridge on 9th April 1917. (Author)





On 28th March No.11 Company from D Battalion received 12 Mark IIs and was entrained for Achiet-le-Grand, from where they proceeded to their camp at Behagnies. No.12 Company received eight Mark II tanks and they were taken by train to Mont-St. Eloi before going to their camp at Bois de Moreil.


Eight tanks from No.12 Company would support the Canadian advance on Vimy Ridge on 9th April 1917. Zero Hour was 5.30 am. These tanks left their starting position at Elbe Trench behind advancing Canadian infantry. The tanks proceeded well until they reached the German front-line trench where they found that the intensive bombardment had created shell holes that made it impossible for the tanks to pass. Each of the tanks’ commanders had to leave their cabins and lead their tanks on foot. As they went forward the tanks ditched between the 2nd and 3rd German lines and remained there until their crew dug them out in the days that followed. Lieutenant Ralph Cooney was a tank commander during the assault on Vimy Ridge:




There were not any comforts, but there was a certain satisfaction being surrounded with armour which you had not got when you are on your feet outside and that operated until … one suddenly became aware that all the petrol which was high octane was in big tanks on each side of you and if anything hit that, that was the end of you, but generally speaking the driver and the officer had a comfortable seat to sit on. The gunners had little bicycle seats on which they sat and the secondary gearsman sat on the cold steel.23





Cooney understood that the terrain impeded performance at Vimy.




It was snowing and it was 4 o’clock in the morning and quite dark and it was just as lousy as it could be … When we went up to the line in April at Vimy Ridge … the poor old tanks just could not make it. The place was just blasted to bits, after ten days bombardment … you could not get a grip on anything, it was just a sludgy mess. We just got along and eventually we got stuck.


We chugged on and eventually the infantry caught us up, by this time everything was getting a bit disjointed, the barrage had practically finished and the German replies practically were finished and it was just a case of struggling onto the objective and we had gone down. Some of them got to the top of the ridge. They were bogged down when they got to the top where there were Cochshires, the German gunners but that was the end of it as far as we were concerned, I think of no value at all for the tanks. The conditions were hopeless. That was the tendency of the Higher Command was to use tanks in those conditions at Ypres and Passchendaele, hopeless conditions.24





Two days later eight tanks from No.11 Company would be thrown into the Battle of Bullecourt. Within three weeks, Cooney would command Tank 580 into the second battle of Bullecourt.




[image: Illustration]


The Tank Memorial at Pozières stands close to the position where the first tanks used in warfare went into action on 15th September 1916. (Author)
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One of the four tank sculptures that adorn the Tank Memorial at Pozières. The ruins of the Windmill, which was captured by the Australians, can be seen in the background. (Author)
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CHAPTER 3


THE AUSTRALIANS’ PATH TO BULLECOURT


For the Australians, the path to Bullecourt began 12,000 miles distant and would take them via Turkey to the Western Front in France and Belgium. The battles into which they would be propelled before reaching Bullecourt would help the Australians establish their esprit de corps and the soldiers of the Australian Imperial Force would develop into a professional army. Despite the perception that they lacked discipline they demonstrated their abilities as soldiers during the disastrous Gallipoli campaign of 1915, the shambles of Fromelles in 1916 and the bloody battle of Poizeres in August 1916. It was through these bitter battles that the digger spirit was developed, feelings of mateship and looking out for your cobber were the defining characteristics of the Australian soldier. Thrown into poorly planned campaigns, often by commanders who had no concept of how to fight a modern war, bonds were nurtured as they were compelled to stick together to ensure that they got through. By the time they were confronted with the formidable defences of the Hindenburg Line at Bullecourt, they had developed into a professional fighting force that could win through against all odds.


When the First World War broke out, Australia, as part of the British Empire, was obligated to fight. A contingent of 20,000 men, the 1st Division AIF (Australian Imperial Force) was raised to be sent as an expeditionary force to support Britain. Many of the soldiers who fought at Bullecourt had enlisted to join the AIF as volunteers in 1914. Some men were motivated by loyalty to King and Empire, while others saw it as an experience, an exciting adventure that would take them abroad and be over and done with before Christmas.


It is quite something to ask men living on the other side of the world to interrupt their lives, give up their jobs, say goodbye to their families and loved ones in order to join up and fight for freedom and liberty in a place which had no direct effect upon their own lives; but many men volunteered.


The battalions who fought at Bullecourt on 11th April contained volunteers from across Australia. The origins of the 4th Brigade battalions show this. The 13th Battalion was created in the last week of September in New South Wales. The 14th Battalion was raised in Melbourne, Victoria, towards the end of September and recruited men from the city and its suburbs. The 15th Battalion was formed in Queensland and also took recruits from the island state of Tasmania. The 16th Battalion was established six weeks after the war had begun on 16th September 1914. 75% of soldiers recruited in September 1914 originated from Western Australia, while the remainder was drawn from the state of Southern Australia. The 13th, 14th, 15th and 16th Battalions would be joined together to create the 4th Brigade commanded by Colonel John Monash.


The 16th Battalion conducted basic training at Blackboy Hill. After completing basic training many soldiers who had enlisted in 1914 embarked on troopships bound for Egypt. The recruits expected to be sent to France but Turkey had entered the war.


The battalions from the 4th Brigade embarked on troopships on Boxing Day and began a six-week passage across the Indian Ocean. The destination was not disclosed. The 18,500 ton troopship HMAT Ceramic carried 72 officers and 2,632 ranks from the 15th and 16th Battalions. Percy Toft, a private from the 15th Battalion who would serve at Bullecourt wrote of his thoughts as he left Port Melbourne aboard HMAT Ceramic:




With a steady pulse the boat moved westwards – whilst we gazed at the fast fading shores. Our hearts and minds were full, as, in a calm sea, we moved forward to the Great Unknown, and left our country, former days and youth.1





HMAT Ceramic first sailed for Albany, Western Australia which was the rendezvous point with 16 other troopships. The convoy would be protected by one Australian submarine, AE2. The soldiers were assigned positions onboard for the passage. The berths were very cramped. Toft lived in a tiny area which accommodated 20 men. Here they would eat and sleep. Every space onboard was utilised. ‘On board together there were nearly three and a half thousand souls, and although our ship was huge, it would have been impossible to carry them all, had not the men slept in hammocks, clearing the mess tables.’2


The food was poor, a daily diet of bread, jam and rabbit stew. There was plenty of time for training during the long passage. Harry Murray recalled training hard while aboard and becoming quite proficient with the bayonet. Though the men still had a lot of time on their hands. Many gambled on the lengthy voyage. Private Bert Smythe serving with the 3rd Battalion AIF had set off for the war on 20th October 1914. Smythe was destined to die at Bullecourt. He wrote home to his parents:




There is a lot of gambling done here by the men. Nearly everyone on board indulges in it. The other day four men were arrested for having money on them that they could not account for to the satisfaction of the police.3





It was only natural that arguments would erupt within these close confines. When tempers became inflamed, disagreements were settled in the boxing ring. Toft wrote of these boxing matches: ‘All arguments were settled on deck with gloves after 5 pm, and what fights they were. Some of the men’s efforts were of the highest standard. Some were extremely comical. The spectators may have numbered three thousand.’4


Once the troopships left the Australian coast, they headed directly for Aden in the Middle East, while a few others went via Colombo in Ceylon. As they sailed closer to Aden the temperature rose. After leaving Aden the troopships would cross the Red Sea and pass through the Suez Canal. It was here that Private Percy Toft recalled seeing trenches for the first time, guarded by the men from the 1st Australian Division. HMAT Ceramic arrived in Alexandria on 1st February 1915 and the following day Toft and the men from 15th Battalion travelled for seven hours by train to Cairo. They were marched from Cairo to camps at Heliopolis where they received further training. The 1st Australian Division would be joined by the New Zealand Infantry Brigade. They would be known as the Australian and New Zealand Army Corps (ANZAC). Lieutenant General Sir William Birdwood, an Indian Army officer, was appointed commander. Known as Birdie, he became a prominent figure during the war. Percy Toft recalled that the 15th Battalion was given a one-day holiday for them to get acclimatized to their new surroundings. After that day the training would commence. Toft: ‘We soon realised that life would be different to that which we had before known. Now we were to be trained to fight. We were two months behind the first contingent in training and we were required to work hard. Life was now a serious matter.’5


On 4th February their training in Egypt began. They were woken early in the morning to the sound of the trumpets of the Light Horsemen. During the following months, the 4th Brigade were subjected to long route marches across the desert during the day and night which culminated in a simulated battle, to test their endurance, resolve and fighting ability when exhausted. Life was very uncomfortable in the intense desert heat, plagued by flies. Percy Toft:




Our brigade commanders were keen to know the exact limit of endurance. Brigadier General Monash, a civil engineer, was fascinated by strains and applied his measurements to his troops. We were kept at work from early morning to late in the evening. On field days we left the parade ground at 6.30 am and arrived back in camp at 8.30 pm. On the hardest day 35 miles were covered. Over the desert troops marched. Sometimes on hard sand, when men ricked their ankles through rolling on pebbles. Sometimes men trudged through loose sand which covered their boots. Up and down hillocks, battle formations were kept, whilst the sun scorched, the glare hurt the eyes, and dust, stirred by men’s feet, hung like a pall. Men’s parched throats demanded water.6





The intensive training left each soldier with very little time for himself. They would be granted Saturday and Sunday afternoons for leave, except for those men who were detailed to guard or fatigue duties. When they were granted leave Australian soldiers ventured into the chaotic bazaars of Cairo. Not only was there an immeasurable cultural divide between the Egyptians and the Australians, there was also a great divide between the Australian and British armies and there were numerous disciplinary problems when Australian soldiers refused to salute British officers.


The Australian battalions were then sent to Alexandria where they embarked on troopships which would take them to the Greek island of Lemnos, in the Aegean Sea, where they would train for the impending Gallipoli campaign. The terrain at Lemnos was similar to the rugged and steep cliffs they would encounter at Anzac Cove and Cape Helles in Gallipoli. Here they would receive rigorous training in how to disembark off the side of troopships using rope ladders and then climb into small rowing boats. They would practise rowing ashore and climbing steep hills and cliff faces. This training was carried out on a daily basis.


The strike at Gallipoli was driven by the desire to capture Constantinople and knock Turkey out of the war. If the allies controlled the Dardanelles Straits, then they would be able to reach Black Sea ports and send vital aid to Russia. The plan was devised by Winston Churchill, First Lord of the Admiralty, who was frustrated by the stalemate of trench warfare on the Western Front. Poor planning, ignorance of the rugged terrain and under-estimation of the Turkish forces’ ability to defend their homeland were key factors in the disastrous campaign.


The 3rd Australian Brigade landed at Anzac Cove at 5.30 am on 25th April 1915. The second assault wave comprising the 1st Brigade followed at 8.00 am. The 1st Brigade would take part in the second Bullecourt battle during May 1917. Private Bert Smythe of the 3rd Battalion, who would later be killed at the second Bullecourt, gave a graphic account of his first horrific experience of war:




The landing was commenced very early in the morning of Sunday 25/4/15, the 3rd BDE going first and that BDE had the most landing casualties. The Turks were right on the beach, despite the fact that the warships had shelled the place very thoroughly and the first few boat loads of our boys lost heavily but as soon as they got ashore they dug them out with the bayonet. During the whole of the landing the Turks were giving our boys shrapnel a treat and one boat was sunk by a shell exploding on her water line …


We landed in a bad place, and it’s just as well. The Turks were expecting us at another place, and had we gone there we would never have got ashore. They had guns and machine guns, splendid trenches, obstacles, and even barbed wire entanglements and mines in the water to welcome us with. Where we actually did land was not very strongly guarded and we sort of surprised them, and we had got ashore and established ourselves before they could bring sufficient troops to prevent us. Once we got ashore it was just a matter of holding on … Finally we got on top of a hill with a pretty good trench in it. The fact that it was a Turkish trench didn’t worry our consciences in the least. We just took possession of it and inwardly thanked the Turks for saving us the trouble of digging one … Every few seconds a shell burst, sometimes near us and sometimes a bit off, and they kept our nerves on edge all the time. Shrapnel looks very pretty. The shell bursts up in the air and makes a pretty cloud of white smoke, and when several burst near each other at the same time the effect is very striking. But when the shooting is good it is very nerve wracking. The shell can be heard some distance off coming with half a scream and half a hiss, culminating in a deafening report as the charge in the shell explodes, and drives 300 bullets in a steep angle to the ground with great velocity.7





Although the 3rd Battalion held the cliff top ridges, the Turkish snipers and artillery dominated their position denying them free movement. This was their homeland. They knew the terrain and they would use the features of the gullies and the undergrowth to position their snipers and machine gunners. They held the high ground and dominated the region. The Australians were pinned down during that day. Private Bert Smythe:




There are only two things that ought to be barred in war and they are artillery and machine guns, they are both fiendish. They shelled us all that day and searched all over the ground with their machine guns and we couldn’t do a thing. The whole country is covered with short scrub about three feet high and it’s almost impossible to see a man lying down at 20 yds. Of course that style of country just suits the Turks and their snipers and machine guns can work without any fear of being discovered.8





While the 3rd Brigade were fighting their way up the cliffs and along the gullies under Turkish fire, men from the 4th Australian Brigade were on the island of Lemnos preparing to join their comrades. Some of the men who were to find themselves fighting through the dense wire at Bullecourt and into the German trenches experienced the trauma of battle on the beaches at Gallipoli that day. The soldiers that would three years later attack Bullecourt were from the 4th Australian Brigade. Lance Corporal Hugh Orr from the 16th Battalion, 4th Brigade, was a Gallipoli veteran who would fight at Bullecourt. At midday Lance Corporal Orr recalled attending church parade before they set out. The padre giving the service was very blunt, but truthful in his sermon as he prepared these brave men for the worst. ‘I remember the chaplain getting up and he said, well boys. I know you are going into action today and some of you will never see another sunrise. That was what he told us.’9
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Australian landing beach at Anzac Cove, 25th April 1915. Many of the soldiers who fought at Bullecourt first saw action on this beach. (Author)
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Another view of Anzac Cove, Gallipoli; 600 metres and eight months of misery. The Cove was always under the Turkish guns at Gaba Tepe to the south. (Author)





The journey to Gallipoli was a short passage and the sounds of the gunfire could be heard soon after leaving Lemnos. The first waves that had landed at dawn were fiercely holding on to their positions as support battalions approached. Orr and the 16th Battalion could observe the battle taking place on the British landing beaches at Cape Helles as they sailed northwards to their own designated landing beach at Anzac Cove. To hear the sound of guns and shell fire and to see it from a distance must have had an effect upon the senses of these men, making them more tense, more anxious about what was about to hit them. Orr:




So at 12 o’clock we had dinner and all that and then started to move out of Lemnos. Shortly after we went out of Lemnos, may be about half an hour or so we were hearing gunfire and we thought we are coming close to it now. The next thing we see is the shape of the land there and seeing little puffs of smoke going up which was the shell fire and that was down at Cape Helles, was the first place we saw. Well, we watched the battle there. You could see the battle but you couldn’t distinguish which was which, it was too far out like and we kept going on and going on. We thought this is funny; we are passing by this lot here at Cape Helles. This seems to be where the fighting is but shortly after we see another patch further up. This was up at Anzac. So, we just got up there opposite Anzac. Our signaller was standing not far from where we were and they were signalling from the shore and we said to the signaller what is this then? He said, they want Infantry ashore at once.10





Before they reached the beach they had to disembark from their troopships down rope ladders onto smaller vessels which would take them closer to the shore, then they would have to transfer to small boats and under heavy Turkish gunfire row to the beach. The 16th Battalion landed at Anzac Cove at 5.30 pm. Once on the beach they had to dash across the blood-soaked sands to find cover in the cliffs:




So we got orders then to get ready in our fighting orders and get ready to disembark. Well, up comes a little destroyer called Ribble and there were about 60, I suppose anything up to 60 rope ladders down the side of the ship and this destroyer came up and just came alongside the ship. Never stopped. Just kept moving slowly along and we were climbing down the rope ladders and had to get on the destroyer. Well, we got onto the destroyer and she went in as far as she could until she got into her depth and up came a little pinnace with about eight or nine lifeboats behind it and we got into the lifeboats and off we went to the shore with the pinnace. Well, the pinnace went in as far as it could. Luckily I was on the first lifeboat and when it went in we were up to our knees in water. That was the grounding position for the pinnace. Now, the pinnace came in and cut off and let the boats drift in and our boat being the first boat went into about knee deep in water but I don’t know how the others got on. They had to go up to their waist in water but of course, you didn’t have time to look. We hopped out of the boat and got on the shore and ran into the foot of the hill as quick as we could.11





4th Brigade were landed in the wrong position and organisation on the beach was in disarray with battalions intermingled with other battalions:




Well, we were mixed up a bit because you couldn’t help that. There were different regiments on the beach and you just fell in and you marched up. Sometimes there were some of them missing for three or four days from the Battalion. They were supposed to be missing and that and yet they belonged to another unit. Then when they got a chance to get away to that other unit and go relieved from it they came back to their Battalion.12





The 16th Battalion was also mixed in with the 26th Indian Mountain Battery, who landed at the same time and were heading inland to reinforce the beach head before night drew in. It was important to move off the beach as soon as possible because the sights of the Turkish guns were trained on the beach. The 16th Battalion ventured up the muddy passage known as Monash Gully in the dark. The fragile beach head secured that morning was constantly being threatened throughout the day by counter attacks from Turkish forces determined to push the Australians into the sea. Orr:




We got up on to a place which was known as Pope’s Hill. Just as we got up on to the top of Pope’s Hill a New Zealander came by and he said, you better stop here and now and dig in because the Turks are coming down. Well, we stopped there and we got behind the hill and got all ready for the Turks coming and three Turks came down and the New Zealander, he was an interpreter and he could speak Hindustani and he got on to the three of them. He told us, we were lying just behind him in the trench, now look if these men move don’t let them get away because I will give you the word whether they are Turks or not.13





Some Indian units had landed during that day with the Australian and New Zealand battalions so it was important to ascertain whether they were friend or foe. Orr continued: ‘So he questioned them in Hindustani and they couldn’t answer him. So then they admitted that they belonged to the Ottoman Army and with that of course, that started the war as far as we were concerned.’14


Pope’s Hill was named after Lieutenant Colonel Harold Pope, the 16th Battalion’s commanding officer. Orr and men from the 16th Battalion spent the first three days holding onto their positions on Pope’s Hill. Between their position and the sea was another hill called Russell’s Top, occupied by Turkish snipers.


The 15th Battalion had secured a holding on 15th Battalion on Russell’s top Private Percy Toft wrote of these snipers:




The spur we occupied appeared to run North and South. It formed a right angle with the ridge that extended from Quinn’s Post to Courtney’s Ridge. At the junction there was a high ridge named ‘No Man’s Ridge’, difficult for either side to hold, owing to nearby enfilade from Pope’s Hill and Quinn’s Post, and the opposing enemy positions. Enemy snipers made posts there, which permitted them by day to snipe men moving past certain spots in Monash Gully and the bottom of Quinn’s Post.15





During that first night on Gallipoli the Turks held the advantage. They knew where the Australians were and could direct effective sniper, machine gun and artillery fire upon their positions. All the Australians could do as they clung to the cliffs was to fire in the direction of any light. Private Bert Smythe wrote: ‘All night both sides kept up a heavy rifle fire – the Turks firing where they knew our trenches were and our boys firing wherever they saw flame.’16


On Sunday 2nd May the 4th Brigade took part in its first assault on the Gallipoli Peninsula. The objective was to secure the ridge adjacent to Quinn’s Post, known as the ‘Bloody Angle’ and was led by the 16th Battalion and supported by the 13th and 15th Battalions. At 7.15 pm the 16th Battalion had begun to climb a ridge that connected Quinn’s Post and another position known as ‘the Chessboard’. They ascended this steep slope without the enemy firing upon them. It was not until they reached the top of the ridge that they attracted heavy enemy fire from Turkish positions known as the Nek and the Chessboard. They tried to dig trenches as they fought through the night. It was a dangerous task for runners to carry boxes of ammunition to those men holding the top of the ridge and many men were killed. Lance Corporal Percy Black held his position resolutely and kept on firing despite being wounded twice earlier that week. He tenaciously fought off Turkish counter attacks until all his ammunition had been expended.


The following morning the 16th Battalion was compelled to withdraw. The Battalion had landed at Anzac Cove with strength of approximately 1,000 men. Within a month they had been reduced to 300 men.


The 15th Battalion entered the attack with 500 men, but suffered many casualties during that same attack. It was a scale of loss which some within the battalion would experience two years later on the fields of Bullecourt. Private Toft:




The whole business was sickening … No noise could swell the volume of the din. Our heads would soon be above the level of the trench where machine guns and rifles had for an hour or more sent dirt, sparks and pebbles flying … We climbed into the inferno of rifle and machine gun fire … I moved straight ahead wondering why I wasn’t hit. Forward we went to the depression. No-Man’s Land appeared to be empty, save for forms that would never move again. Lying down within thirty yards of the enemy’s blazing line, I was aware of some of our men. ‘Pass the word along, Sergeant Corrigan in command.’ I heard this Sergeant’s order. ‘Prepare to charge!’ I rose hurriedly to find only five of us attacking. Five hundred had climbed out of our trench. Sergeant Corrigan seeing the position yelled out RETIRE!’17





‘What a sorry business it had been? What indescribable stupidity to imagine a surprise could take place? Where were the Staff Officers? Why was not the attack abandoned when it was seen surprise was not possible?’18 This was Gallipoli 1915, but these were questions which would be asked at Bullecourt in 1917.


On 19th May Lance Corporal Hugh Orr was in action again when the 16th Battalion held Quinn’s Post and defended the position against a major Turkish initiative to capture the position:




I was in Quinn’s Post at the time … You could stand up and just open fire. They came in quite close I suppose. I should say 50 yards. They were running into it at the time. Some of them were firing as they ran. Naturally you are pulling the trigger as you go but they stopped about 50 yards off the trench when they gave it up, stopped coming in. Our fire was pretty heavy I don’t mind telling you because we were all up there and we were letting them have it as quick as we could. The excitement of battle I think hunted the fear out of you altogether. The excitement of the battle was the thing. You just got up there and fired away as quick as you could pull the trigger and you were letting it go.19
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Anzac trenches, Gallipoli. (Author)





Private Percy Toft witnessed the Turkish attack from the position held by the 15th Battalion:




In the afternoon a big Turkish attack launched in front of Quinn’s and Courtney’s was defeated. We had a fine view of the charge from our parados, but could do nothing to help. The Turks were in swarms … The battle raged for three hours, the Turkish attack failing badly, with enormous loss of life.20





At Quinn’s Post, Australian and Turkish trenches were extremely close to each other. The risk of attack was always in the thoughts of the soldiers as they defended their ground. They were within range of Turkish bombs that could be lobbed from their trenches. The men from the 16th Battalion would find themselves in a similar situation when they were holding sections of OG 1 and OG 2 Trenches at Bullecourt three years later. The major difference was that if they faltered and their line collapsed, Turkish forces would push them into the sea. Another contrast to Bullecourt was that on 11th April 1917, veterans from Gallipoli would be fighting in the snow. During 1915, Australian soldiers were fighting a campaign in terrible heat, which would help spread disease and encourage smells from decaying corpses to fill the air. Orr remembered:




It was beginning to get a bit awkward and a nasty smell and all that kicking around the place if you happened to be near them. In some parts of the trench at Quinn’s Post you were only about six yards apart and with the attack there and the bombs going in there were a lot of dead men lying all around all over the place. The stench was pretty bad there for a while.21





During 6th August 1915 the 4th Brigade AIF in conjunction with the 29th Indian Brigade launched an assault on Hill 971, which was the highest summit in the Sari Bair range. Control of this range would mean control of the Gallipoli Peninsula. They set off during the night in complete darkness four miles north of Anzac Cove and then turned right into the ravines and began the arduous ascent up Sari Bair Range. The operation was a disaster, they entered the wrong gully and their path was obstructed by steep precipices. Turkish machine gunners dominated the region and cut them down. After losing many casualties for this objective Turkish counter attacks forced the Australians from the summit:




We went out from a gully towards the Sphinx. We went out from there towards Suvla Bay and we had to join up, we were supposed to join up with the troops that landed at Suvla Bay but we went out and we had to meet the Gurkhas at a gully just in front of Achi Baba and we got out there and met the Ghurkas at just about daybreak and we had to charge then up this Hill 971. We were after 971 and when we started to drop the Turks were just clearing out. We were just too late to get the gun. They just got out and you could see them round the corner galloping away. Anyhow, we got up on to 971. The Ghurkas were a bit ahead of us. They were a bit smarter than we were and our Navy started firing on them because they didn’t know that they were up so high. They were too quick and they fired on them just as they got near the top. Well, we were stopped there and we couldn’t go any further. Anyhow, we came back then owing to the failure of the Suvla Bay landing, they didn’t get up. We had to come back and connect the line. Save the left flank and that was where the Ghurkas and men out of the 16th Battalion, there were about 60 of them. They were mixed up with the Ghurkas. Well, we held that position for four or five days before we were relieved. Right in the left of the line. That was on top of the Apex and after that they relieved us there. … we went back down to what they called Hill 60.22





The 4th Brigade reorganised on 7th August and launched a further attack at 3.00 am that morning. The men were fatigued and lost direction. At sunrise they found that they were exposed to Turkish machine guns. Bitter close quarter combat took placed that morning. The 4th Brigade lost casualties amounting to 750 men and had no option but to withdraw. The 13th and 14th Battalion, with only 500 men, were thrown into another assault on 21st August. They captured the front-line Turkish trenches but the attack soon faltered.


The 18th AIF Battalion was another unit that would assault Bullecourt in 1917 who took part in the attack on Hill 60 in August 1915. Days after landing at Anzac Cove, they were ordered to capture Hill 60. The battalion entered the battle with 750 men and suffered 383 casualties, half of that number killed.


By December 1915 the allied forces on Gallipoli were exhausted, suffering from disease and feeling dejected at the failure of the campaign to secure Gallipoli. Winter was about to descend and there was no motivation for Allied commanders to continue the campaign. The respected Australian journalist Keith Murdoch wrote a report highlighting the poor conditions that the Australian forces were living under and the low morale of the soldiers. He condemned the command of Sir Ian Hamilton. This report was sent to the Australian Prime Minister Andrew Fisher. He also expressed his opinions to members of the British Cabinet. As a consequence, Hamilton was dismissed as commander of allied forces on Gallipoli. Lord Kitchener visited Gallipoli on 9th November and could see that it was impossible to persist with the campaign. Plans were being made for evacuation.


After eight months of bitter fighting the Australian units began withdrawing from their lines on 18th December and proceeded during the night of 19th and 20th December. There was great relief amongst those leaving Gallipoli; mingled with grief at leaving the 8,141 Australian comrades who died during the campaign. As they quietly made their way down the gullies towards Anzac Cove, they passed the crosses marking the graves of their dead cobbers. Feelings of bitterness that they had died in a futile campaign tainted with failure were strongly felt. It is ironic that the only success on Gallipoli was the evacuation.


After the evacuation from Gallipoli the AIF expanded and reorganised itself. Two new divisions were created in Egypt. When the 4th Brigade arrived in Egypt after the Gallipoli ordeal, half of the remnants from the 13th, 14th, 15th and 16th Battalions were assigned to form the 12th Brigade. For example, the 13th and 14th Battalions were split into two; half of each of the battalions used to form new battalions, so that inexperienced reinforcements would be absorbed into battalions comprised of hardened soldiers who had experienced the Gallipoli campaign. Soldiers from the 14th Battalion were taken to form the 46th Battalion, which would fight at the first Bullecourt battle. Men from the 13th Battalion formed the nucleus of the 45th Battalion, which was held in reserve during the first Bullecourt battle. This measure proved unpopular amongst the Gallipoli veterans who were attached to their battalions, but it was necessary to ensure that each of the new battalions comprised 50% of men with combat experience.


The 4th Brigade arrived in Marseille in June 1916 and would spend two days travelling by train to Bailleul in northern France. They arrived in Bailleul on 10th June and were soon deployed in trenches in a quiet sector of the Western Front at Bois Grenier, near Armentières. The 14th Battalion was the first unit to engage with German forces on 2nd July when a company was sent to raid an enemy trench. They succeeded in capturing a section of the trench but they were forced to retreat when all participants became casualties.


The 54th Battalion, which would play an important role in defending the line at Bullecourt on 15th May, would also see action on the Western Front during July 1916. The battalion was raised from Gallipoli veterans who served with the 2nd Battalion during February 1916 The battalion absorbed new recruits from Australia. They were sent to France in June 1916 and on 19th July this battalion lost 65% casualties during the disastrous diversionary attack at Fromelles, 10 miles west of Lille. Lieutenant General Sir Richard Haking commanding XI Corps ordered the 5th Australian Division and 61st British Division to attack German trenches at Fromelles, which were occupied by experienced soldiers from the 6th Bavarian Reserve Division, Corporal Adolf Hitler amongst them. The purpose of the assault on Fromelles was to divert German battalions from the Somme campaign that was raging in the south. This was another poorly planned assault where Australian troops, together with British infantry from the 61st Division, were ordered to capture trenches that did not exist. They were sent across No Man’s Land in broad daylight exposed to heavy German machine gun fire. It was similar to the Bullecourt fiasco. The 54th Battalion succeeded in capturing the first line of German trenches and was expected to advance further to capture a second line of support trenches. These trenches were waterlogged ditches. By 4.30 am on 20th July, the Australians barely held onto their positions in the German lines, as the casualties increased and the supplies of ammunition depleted. Later that morning they had no choice but to retire back across machine-gun-swept No Man’s Land to their original lines.


Captain Alfred Morris, 54th Battalion, who endured heavy German shelling at Bullecourt, distinguished himself at Fromelles as a scout officer. His recommendation for the Military Cross:




He had gone forward with the first wave, but took charge of a platoon as so many officers were casualties. He worked with Lt. Harris in holding the left front. His coolness and resource were very marked indeed. When the left Brigade retired and our left flank was exposed, and the Germans came in, Lieut. Morris took his men through the enemy and although wounded it is stated that he shot two of them with his revolver.23





Company Sergeant Major Patrick Mealey was another soldier from the 54th Battalion who distinguished himself at Fromelles, a year before he was killed at Bullecourt. Mealey won the MM for repelling German counter attacks with grenades.


The 58th Battalion was another Australian unit who fought at Fromelles before seeing action at Bullecourt. 2nd Lieutenant Simon Fraser who was killed at Bullecourt had distinguished himself at Fromelles by going out into No Man’s Land on numerous occasions to rescue wounded comrades while exposed to enemy machine-gun fire.


Meanwhile, battalions from the 1st, 2nd and 4th Australian Divisions were assembling on the Somme, destined to take part in the desperate battle for Pozières towards the end of July 1916. They were assigned to General Hubert Gough’s Reserve Army, which would later become the Fifth Army. These battalions would fight at Bullecourt in 1917. The first day of the Somme campaign in 1st July 1916 was a complete disaster for the British Army who lost 20,000 men killed. Haig was anxious to capture the German second defensive line on the Somme which ran along Pozières Ridge. It afforded clear observation of the Somme Valley towards Albert and by capturing Pozières, Haig would be in a position to capture Thiepval, still occupied by German forces.


The engagement at Pozières is a precursor to the Bullecourt battle in that the Australians were ordered to attack a strongly defended German position commanding high ground, a German defensive system comprising two trenches. 23,000 casualties were sustained by the 1st, 2nd and 4th Australian Divisions ordered to take Pozières during from 21st July to 30th August. The second German defensive line consisted of two trenches that crossed the Albert–Bapaume Road north of Pozières. The Australians would name the front line OG 1 and the secondary support line, which ran close to the windmill, as OG 2, OG meaning Old German. Australian commanders would name the two German lines in the Hindenburg Line OG 1 and OG 2 at Bullecourt, after the trenches at Pozières.


The most important link is that General Gough, Fifth Army commander, was overseeing this offensive. Haig had ordered Gough to capture the ridge at Pozières without delay on 18th July. The impulsive Gough took Haig’s command literally and immediately ordered Major General Harold Walker to send the 1st Australian Division to capture Pozières during the night of the following day. Walker was dismayed by Gough’s orders, considering his Division was not on the line and there was not sufficient time to reconnoitre the area. There was no time to plan or prepare the troops. Gough demonstrated the same rash and impetuous side to his character at Pozières as did at Bullecourt. Walker protested to Gough with these arguments and was granted a day to prepare. Further protestations from Lieutenant General Sir William Birdwood, commander of I ANZAC Corps, together with his Chief of Staff Major General Cyril Brudenell White, persuaded Gough to delay the attack upon Pozières one more day.


After the debacle at Fromelles Haig told Gough on 20th July to pay attention to detail. This was the 1st AIF Division’s first action on the Western Front and he did not want another failure. The attack on Pozières was therefore scheduled to take place on 23rd July. This delay allowed the soldiers from the 1st Division AIF to prepare. Jump off positions were entrenched into No Man’s Land to reduce the distance to the enemy trenches, reconnaissance patrols were sent out in order to get familiar with the terrain. The attack was launched upon the village from the south at 12.30 am on 23rd July. The 8th Battalion fought a tough, desperate action to capture the village the following day.


From 23rd July for three days, German artillery pulverised the ground at Pozières and inflicted casualties of 5,285 upon the exhausted 1st Australian Division. The 2nd Australian Division, which would play an important role at the second Bullecourt battle, was sent to relieve them.


All British and Australian units heading for Pozières would pass through the town of Albert. Soldiers from the 2nd Australian Division recorded in their diaries the utter devastation of Albert and the derelict terrain. Every soldier would march along the Roman road that dissected the town and pass one of the iconic images of the First World War. Private Oswald Blows, serving with the 28th Battalion, described it as he passed through the town on 27th July 1916:




Albert is shelled daily – since this morning, a shell has fallen every five minutes, one or two of them rather close to us. I can see the Church of Albert has been badly knocked about, a statue of the Holy Virgin holding out the baby Jesus for the world, standing erect on the top of the steeple is now pointing downwards over the side – a heavy base keeps it from dropping quite over. There is a good sentiment amongst the French people, that if it is knocked completely down by a Hun shell, the German crown will fall with it, or if it falls on its own, then the war will end.24





German artillery did not shoot down the statue; British shells eventually did. The statue represented the determined resolution to stand against an oppressive enemy and must have captured the imagination of the Diggers and the Tommies who passed through the town square beneath it.


When the battalions from the 2nd Australian Division reached Pozières, they could see only the remnants of a village, the buildings had been reduced to rubble. Corporal Ivor Williams from the 21st Battalion recalled in his diary the desolation:
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Two photos of the ruins of the basilica at Albert. The statue of the Holy Virgin holding the baby Jesus became an iconic image of the First World War. All soldiers who passed through Albert to the frontline during the Somme campaign in 1916 en route to Bullecourt in 1917 would have passed this symbol. (Author)







There is, on the road up, the remains of Contalmaison and woods, now a few scattered bricks and splintered logs and stumps. There is not one spot where one can find one square foot of earth not dug up by shells. Next we come to the remains of Pozières. Here it is something awful. There is not the slightest trace of a house or woods left. In most places even the bricks and tree stumps are missing, having been pounded to dust.


The ground is just honeycombed with shell holes and the whole aspect and contour of the ground is changed. All the old German dug-outs which have been some fine places; are now all practically destroyed and are full of corpses in all stages of decomposition. Some of these are 40 feet below the ground.


The saps, or the remains of same and the ground is just covered with corpses, some terribly mangled and all in an advanced state of decomposition, the stench is something awful.


These are bodies of the Huns, Tommies and Australians killed in the last advance. This is the most awful sight I have ever seen. The shells that pass from side to side are enormous and many. One cannot bear the row at times. During the afternoon I was hit on the back of the head with a log of wood, but luckily, my steel helmet saved me, so now have a fine old lump and a headache.


I never in all my life thought things could be in such a state of desolation and ruin. Even from pictures you cannot imagine the time we are having.


My word it has made a different man of me. There are hundreds of dead and decaying dead lying everywhere. There are arms, legs, pieces of bodies, armless, legless, and headless. They are the most gruesome sights I have ever seen in all my life.


Even after they are dead they could not rest in peace as the shells would land on top of them and blow them to pieces. The casualties are very heavy and we cannot keep pace with the wounded who are lying everywhere and who are being wounded over and over again and being killed in dozens. I think I had better shut up or you will be getting the blues.25





The 23rd Battalion was among the Bullecourt units which took part in the battle to capture Pozières. Private Joseph Kennedy from the 23rd Battalion reported in his diary ‘The village of Pozières has not got a solid brick left and what was once green woods are now dead and fallen trees. Every yard of ground has been ploughed up by shells. The cemetery close to the village has not an erect tombstone left.’26


During 29th July, the 28th Battalion launched an assault to take OG 1 and OG 2 Trenches from the Albert–Bapaume Road to the Ovillers–Courcelette track, together with the 25th and 26th Battalions. The 26th, 25th and 28th Battalions from the inexperienced 7th Brigade were exposed as they assembled along Tramway Trench. They were to capture OG 1 and OG 2 Trenches and so all their assault waves were assembled in great depth along the start line that stretched north from the Albert–Bapaume Road. The Germans shelled along this road regularly. The 28th Battalion was positioned next to this road and was vulnerable to German artillery fire. Private Oswald Blows:




As far as I could judge the Huns were in a sharp angled salient. Our firing line – a captured battered trench – was about 400 yards from the Huns, our hopping-off trench in front in No-Man’s Land. The Hun’s trenches were in the ridge almost, of a gentle rising slope. We were at this time between the wholly ruined Pozières village, the ridge, our sector taking the road from Albert to Bapaume. The stench was bad from the dead; we’d passed many on our way.27





The 28th Battalion was ordered to rush the first trench, while allied artillery bombarded the second German trench line. After six minutes the barrage would lift and the battalion would advance onto the second trench. It was planned to establish an outpost by the ruins of the windmill east of Pozières. Private Oswald Blows wrote in his diary, ‘To me this ground is the holiest on earth.’28


Under enemy machine gun fire and the light from flares the battalions from the 7th Brigade advanced upon the OG trench system. Men from the 28th Battalion became entangled in the barbed wire. A stretch of uncut wire obstructed their path towards OG 1. Private Blows:




When our line went forward to the wire they were mown down by enemy machine guns, when the wire was reached, it was almost intact. Our guns opened up more at 12.15 and then some played on the barbed wire and amongst our own men, and what with the enemies’ artillery (from front and from each side), bombs and machine guns, men dropped in dozens, many on the wire. It was impossible to get through, the barbed barrier was thick, and the enemy being in the know, he put up a living hell. Shell holes were filled with dead, dying and wounded men, and others, and so it was till daybreak, no one retiring until ordered to do so. The boy’s all fought gamely, up against certain death whenever they stood up, and the whole ground was swept with shrapnel.29





Desperate to force a path through the wire some men used their bare hands to clear the way. German and British shells were falling at the same time in the area. Machine gun crews concentrated their fire upon these men trying to break through the wire:




We knew that under the conditions things were a complete failure, and when orders came, all that remained of us had to retire – to crawl along to an old trench much battered, and many dead there, both ours and the Huns. We would not put our wounded in from No-man’s land owing to the intense fire. We pushed our way down this long trench helping the walking wounded and over the top when the trench was levelled. The trench was so full of wounded that any man unwounded who wished to get along had to go along the parapet.30





On entering another trench he described it as ‘much broken and containing many dead — some most gruesome sights, bodies being in all positions and some awfully mangled, and the stench was awful.’31


Supporting waves reached the wire to find their comrades dead, including most of the company commanders. Many Australian officers and men were killed at the wire. The 28th Battalion suffered 400 casualties including their commander Lieutenant Colonel Herbert Collett who was wounded. Private Blows recorded that 695 men were wounded, missing or killed out of 1,000 men from the 28th Battalion. He wrote of his ‘thankful deliverance from a living hell’.32


The ‘living hell’ would continue. At dawn on 5th August soldiers from the 22nd and 26th Battalions who were occupying OG 2 and machine gunners and men from the 27th in OG 1 near the Windmill observed German reinforcements coming over the crest of the ridge. All the Australian units fired upon this German party and dispersed them into the shelter of shell holes. Blows saw the German waves advancing towards the line being occupied by the 27th Battalion. His diary extract states that these Germans were forced to advance at gunpoint by their superiors:




The Germans attacked on the front of the 27th Battalion, who were reinforced by us. The Huns advanced in a mob, and an officer behind with a revolver. The enemy wavered before our machine guns and rifle fire, but dared not turn back on all of their officers. The officer was immediately sniped by one of our fellows, when he fell; the Germans threw down their rifles, putting their hands up ran to our trenches shouting ‘mercy comrade!’ Their own artillery caught many of them, but about 200 came in one trench, and many other smaller parties. One was a Sergeant Major with an Iron Cross – he said he was the only Sergeant Major left amongst the mob (167th Prussian Reserve) and only had the cross presented to him the day before he was captured.33





Undaunted by Australian firepower some German units managed to get near to OG 1, more precisely near to machine guns commanded by Lieutenant Percy Cherry positioned between the 25th and 27th Battalions. Only one machine gun crew with two men from the 27th Battalion was there to oppose this German attack.


Captain Cecil Foss from the 28th Battalion was ordered to reinforce this gap in the line between the 25th and 27th Battalions. Remnants of this thwarted German attack were taking refuge in shell holes. Australian snipers and trench mortar shells trapped them. Cherry found himself in a personal duel with a German officer in a nearby shell hole. At one point both officers stood up from their shell holes to fire at each other. The German officer fired a bullet that struck Cherry’s helmet. Cherry fired a shot that delivered a mortal wound. Cherry approached the German officer as he lay dying. He could speak fluent English and as Cherry knelt beside him the German asked he could post some personal letter once he had passed them through the censor. Cherry agreed and posted the letters.


OG 2 Trench near to the Windmill was still occupied by German forces. Foss organised an attack with men from the 27th and 28th Battalions. As they attacked from OG 1 many Germans surrendered. As they were sent back to Australian lines as prisoners, they were killed. There is a dispute as to how this happened. It is thought they may have been killed by German shell fire, while other witnesses say that they were killed by Australians bringing up the rear who had mistaken their movements as another German counter attack.


Foss managed to secure OG 2 Trench near the Windmill and set up a machine gun position here. Pozières Ridge was steeped in blood from both sides:




The living hell was said to be now as bad or worse as any at Verdun. Stretcher bearers did marvellous work … Casualties were very heavy – saps were levelled for yards together, and I saw such sights as I never wish to see again, dead lying at every turn, men seriously and slightly wounded, strong men crying and shaking from shell shock filled the saps the whole time and we with dispatches had hard times on our journeys. Smelling bad, the ground on which the battered bodies of our missing and dead men … some of the bodies blown to pieces … Why should men slaughter one another like this?34





The 2nd Division had captured Pozières Ridge. From there they could see the village of Courcelette and the green landscape untouched by shells that stretched towards Bapaume. The only German presence seen from the ridge was stretcher bearers recovering their wounded up the slope. The Australians allowed them to continue their work without interference.


During the ten days that the 2nd Australian Division was on the Pozières front they lost 6,848 soldiers. Many of those casualties were suffering from shell shock. They were relieved by the 4th Australian Division, who would advance upon the Hindenburg Line at Bullecourt and had played a significant role in the defence of the Ridge during 1916.
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2nd Australian Division is commemorated on the ruins of the Windmill Memorial, Pozières. The Windmill was heavily contested during the battle of Pozières and was captured by battalions from the 2nd Division. Captain Albert Jacka launched a decisive counter attack north of the windmill during August 1916, to the right of this picture. (Author)





On 7th August the 4th Australian Division resisted a strong German initiative to recapture Pozières. German forces overwhelmed the Australian lines and the initial phase of the offensive looked successful as they bombed Australian dug-outs and swept over trenches. Many Australians were captured. However, their success was temporary. Lieutenant Albert Jacka VC was in one of the dug-outs with his platoon. Several members of his platoon were wounded by hand grenades thrown into the confined space. A German sentry was ordered to guard the entrance to this dug-out as the main wave advanced towards Pozières. Jacka was undaunted and led eight men up the stairs, shot the German sentry and launched a counter attack from behind the German assault. Jacka’s action was seen by other Australians who had become dispersed and disorganised. Inspired by Jacka’s fighting spirit they joined in the counter attack from the rear. Jacka’s onslaught resulted in the killing and capture of many German soldiers, the rescuing of Australian prisoners and the recovery of lost ground. Jacka had swayed the battle through his initiative, courage and determination.


The last German attempt to recapture Pozières Ridge had failed. Despite delivering a devastating artillery barrage that decimated Australian battalions, the Germans could not regain control.


Once Pozières had been secured, it was necessary to continue the drive to create a salient behind Thiepval, in an effort to isolate this heavily fortified position and cut off the Germans defending the garrison. The 4th Australian Brigade was designated to drive the line northwards to Mouquet Farm. On 8th August the 15th Battalion entered the communication trench close to Mouquet Farm, but was forced to withdraw because the 7th Suffolk’s supporting on their left flank had faltered leaving them exposed. The Australian Divisions continued to fight for Mouquet Farm throughout August.


Sergeant Peter Kibble was an original member of the 13th Battalion. He was wounded at Gallipoli on 3rd May 1915 and a year later he demonstrated his courage at Mouquet Farm on 29th August 1916. Kibble was awarded the Distinguished Conduct Medal for his bravery. His recommendation stated:




During the charge on night 29th August he became separated from his Company; he took charge of a number of men who were leaderless, rallied them, and led them, under heavy machine gun fire, to an enemy trench which was strongly held. At the head of his men he charged and dislodged them, and, after consolidating, he held the trench for over an hour, repelling one counter-attack before he was forced to withdraw in the face of a superior force.35





Kibble was wounded at Bullecourt and was killed at a dressing station in the sunken road by a shell.


The Australians had launch 19 successive attacks in their effort to capture Pozières and Mouquet Farm during July and August at a cost of 23,000 men. Pozières, like the Gallipoli campaign, was an arduous conflict that required the soldiers to be mentally and physically resilient in order to endure, carry out their job and survive to fight the next day. It is important to highlight the fact that many of the Australians who fought at Bullecourt during 1917 were veterans of Pozières and Gallipoli. Nearly every soldier who fought at Pozières was affected by shell shock in some way; such was the intensity of the artillery bombardments. Post Combat Stress was not heard of during World War One, there was no treatment or counselling for the thousands of men who suffered from what was described as shell shock in those terrible days. Those Australian veterans who endured Gallipoli and Pozières would assault the Hindenburg Line with their bodies exhausted, their minds haunted by visions of horror and their nerves shattered by shell fire.
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CHAPTER 4


THE CREATION OF THE HINDENBURG LINE


By the end of 1916, Allied forces had taken five months to penetrate a few miles to achieve objectives planned for the first day of the Somme campaign. Haig persisted in pushing forward and wearing down the enemy in a series of battles. Winter would force Haig to abort any further advance. During the summer of 1916 as the Somme campaign was raging, Ludendorff was concerned that if Haig was to adopt the same strategy in 1917, then Germany would not have the military resources to hold the allies back. He knew the allies had 75 Divisions on the Western Front against Germany’s 40 divisions. Ludendorff realised that they would be unable to launch a German offensive. He convinced German High Command that a defensive strategy was the best strategy and conceived a plan for the withdrawal of German forces 25 miles across the Somme to newly established defensive positions. He named the defensive system the Siegfried Stellung after the third of the four operas in Wagner’s Ring cycle. This line of fortified trenches, deeply excavated concrete dug-outs, gun emplacements protected by acres of high density barbed wire entanglements, would be known to the British as the ‘Hindenburg Line.’ Stretching 85 miles it was built east of Arras and went through Bullecourt to positions in the Champagne region near Soisson. By initiating a withdrawal, Ludendorff would shorten the front by 27 miles and free 10 infantry divisions to be deployed in reserve to bolster sectors where the enemy was making breakthroughs. Work commenced on building the new defensive line during September 1916, unbeknownst to the Allies. In breach of the Geneva Convention 50,000 Russian prisoners of war were forced to work on constructing the fortifications. Hague Rule No. 6 reads: ‘The State may employ the labour of prisoners of war … the work shall not be excessive, and shall have no connection with the operations of war.’


Workers were also drafted from Germany and Belgium to assist in this massive undertaking. Ludendorff ordered that work should be completed by the end of 1916 but because of the enormity of the task, this deadline was unachievable. The severe winter frosts of January 1917 forced the suspension of the construction of concrete fortifications. This certainly hindered the building of defences around Bullecourt. When British troops entered German trenches at Bullecourt, they found large holes in the ground that were incorrectly identified as tank traps. In fact these holes were dug for the foundations of concrete dug-outs and gun emplacements not completed by April 1917 because of the severe winter.


When General von Moser commanding XIV Reserve Corps arrived on the Bullecourt front on 18th March he found that work to construct defences along this sector of the Hindenburg Line had not begun and he was left to organise the construction of temporary defences. It was to von Moser’s advantage that Bullecourt was positioned on a ridge, which would allow his machine gunners to look down upon the enemy once they reached these lines. Dense fields of barbed wire were positioned in v-shaped formation, which would break up waves of advancing enemy infantry and force them into carefully positioned traps where machine guns would fire upon them. General von Moser was concerned that if he placed all his troops in the trenches at Bullecourt, they would be wiped out by preparatory artillery barrages. He therefore placed only a small number of his men in the front-line trenches, holding back the majority of his force in reserve. These reserves would be held in strength in the nearby fortified villages of Hendecourt and Riencourt. If the enemy secured a foothold in the trenches then his reserve troops would be deployed. A series of underground tunnels were dug underneath Bullecourt to ensure that reinforcements could be quickly deployed to repel enemy attacks anywhere in the village.


Although construction of the Hindenburg Line was not complete, Kaiser Wilhelm signed the order to initiate the withdrawal of personnel, arms, artillery and material on 4th February 1917. Five days later the Germans began the withdrawal. The operation, code-named ‘Alberich’, was co-ordinated by Crown Prince Rupprecht of Bavaria, Commander of the Northern Group of Armies. Thirty five days were scheduled to allow for the withdrawal of infantry, artillery and heavy materiel to positions to the rear of the Hindenburg Line. They kept a small force in place to slowly follow as the main contingent withdrew, to ensure that the enemy would be deceived into thinking that the lines were being held. Each village before the Hindenburg Line would be defended by trenches and wire defences to establish a temporary rear guard action as the heavy guns and equipment were being withdrawn.


Pilots from the Royal Flying Corps who were patrolling the Arras sector first saw evidence that major construction work was underway at Quéant towards the end of October 1916 when they identified fresh earth turned up. After further reconnaissance sorties a report was produced on 9th November 1916, which concluded that the enemy was constructing a trench from Quéant to Bullecourt extending to the German third defensive line at Neuville Vitasse. British intelligence were not aware at this time that the Germans were actually constructing a new major defensive line that would stretch from Arras to the Champagne sector. They failed to piece together the reconnaissance flight evidence with further intelligence received on 8th November from a Russian prisoner of war who had escaped to French lines near St Quentin. He confirmed that 2,000 of his fellow prisoners were constructing concrete dug-outs, protected by thick belts of barbed wire, near to the French town. The work on the Hindenburg Line was not fully monitored by the Royal Flying Corps because of German air superiority and poor weather conditions, which prevented them from observing the line being constructed south of Quéant. Rittmeister Freiherr von Richthofen, the celebrated German air ace known as the Red Baron, was based at Douai aerodrome and posed a great threat to all aircraft from the Royal Flying Corps which flew in the skies above that region. The sorties that did manage to fly over the region might not see anything because of the many gaps in construction during the early stages of building the line. It was not until 15th February 1917 that pilots from the Royal Flying Corps confirmed that a defensive line had been built from Quéant to Bellicourt, north of St Quentin.
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Map of German retreat to the Hindenburg Line. (‘Military Operations, France & Belgium 1917’ by Captain Cyril Falls: Published Macmillan 1940, map Crown Copyright)
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Hindenburg Line – Spring 1917 (The Great War: I Was There)





On 22nd February 1917, Fifth Army Headquarters had received information about a wireless transmission which was sent on 20th and 21st February to three German Divisions ordering them to prepare to move with all materials and not to leave anything behind. Staff officers from the Fifth Army thought it inconceivable that the German Army would relinquish positions which they had so resolutely defended throughout 1916. It was considered so implausible that when the information was cascaded down to I ANZAC Corps intelligence staff, they did not pass it on to its divisional commanders in the field.


The 2nd Honourable Artillery Company had been holding the line at Beaumont Hamel during the winter of 1916–17. On 23rd February 1917 intelligence reports indicated that German forces were in the process of evacuating the village of Serre. When the 1st Royal Welch Fusiliers sent patrols into the destroyed village at Serre supported by the 2nd Honourable Artillery Company and entered the German trenches, they encountered a small German presence. Private William Parry-Morris recalled:




We suddenly discovered one night that the Germans had retreated, the German Army retreated all the way from the Somme, right back to the Hindenburg Line. We followed the Germans up and although they were retreating, they fought what we call rear guard actions in all the villages that they retreated to, they would stop at a village and try to hold us back for as long as they could … The village of Serre, Gommecourt, Bucquoy … about eight or nine villages and each time we lost a lot of men in these attacks.1





Serre was unrecognizable and had been pulverised by British artillery. The soldiers from the 2nd HAC saw decomposed skeletal remains caught in barbed wire six months previously during the catastrophic first day of the Somme:




Around the village of Serre were rows and rows of barbed wire, German barbed wire, which had been put up there in 1915 and 1916 and was where one of the places which the British Army attacked on July 1st 1916 and they never even got to the wire. There was so many men killed trying to get to the wire and when we went through the village of Serre in March 1917, their bodies were still hanging on the barbed wire, 30 or 40 of them.2





The men were disturbed to see their dead comrades left hanging there; and worse, that they had to leave them without burying them.


After leaving Puisieux, German forces withdrew to the village of Bucquoy. An aerial reconnaissance sortie confirmed that the village was lightly defended and there was evidence to suggest that the enemy were withdrawing. At 1 pm on 13th March, Lieutenant General Fanshawe, commanding 5th Corps, ordered that this village was to be captured during that night if the enemy had not withdrawn. The 2nd Queen’s (Royal West Surrey) Regiment and the 22nd Manchester Regiment were ordered to capture Bucquoy. They were given short notice of nine hours, insufficient time for artillery to lay down a preparatory barrage to destroy the German wire. Patrols had been sent close to the village and four reports indicated that contrary to aerial reconnaissance reports provided earlier that day, Bucquoy was strongly held by machine gun positions behind thick barbed wire defences. The 2nd Queen’s and 22nd Manchesters had just arrived on the front line and were not familiar with the ground. Major General G. de S. Barrow, commanding 7th Division, urged Fanshawe to delay the attack until dawn, but he was overruled by Fanshawe. The attack was initially scheduled to take place at 11.45 pm on 13th March, but after Fanshawe received a protest from Brigadier General Hanway Cumming, commanding the 91st Brigade, Fanshawe relented and Zero Hour was postponed to 1 am on the morning of 14th March. Brigadier General Cumming requested that the artillery barrage be postponed until prior to the re-scheduled attack, but his demands were ignored. The British artillery did fire its pre-arranged barrage from 10 until 10.30 pm on 13th March, but it had no effect upon the German defences, and only served to alert the German defenders to the attack. In complete darkness soldiers from the 2nd Queen’s and 22nd Manchesters launched their assault. Torrential rain transformed the ground into a morass. Dense barbed wire thwarted their advance and mud clogged their rifles. Machine gun fire from carefully positioned gun emplacements opened fire upon them as soon as the battle began. Small parties from the 2nd Queen’s managed to find a way through the wire, as Lieutenant Colonel Longbourne, commanding the 2nd Queen’s reported:




At zero the companies were formed up on the tape previously put out by Second Lieutenant Bingham in advance of the valley tramway line; they then advanced and succeeded in reaching the enemy’s front wire, the enemy’s artillery fire being intense while his machine guns were active the whole time. It was very dark and raining hard, the ground was very sticky and near the enemy wire it was full of shell-holes, into which many of the men fell and so became unarmed owing to the mud on their rifles preventing the bolts from working. Eventually small groups of men from ‘B,’ ‘C,’ and ‘D’ Companies, with Captain Driver, Second Lieutenants Furze, Burdon, Smith and Limbrick, succeeded in getting through two lines of barbed wire, only to find on arrival here that their rifles were useless; it was impossible to penetrate the third line immediately in front of Bucquoy Trench.3
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